COMBINATION OF PLATELET-RICH FIBRIN AND CALCIUM SULFATE IN SOCKET AUGMENTATION

TIPU SULTAN

FACULTY OF DENTISTRY UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2019

COMBINATION OF PLATELET-RICH FIBRIN AND CALCIUM SULFATE IN SOCKET AUGMENTATION

TIPU SULTAN

THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF DENTAL SCIENCE

FACULTY OF DENTISTRY UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2019

UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: Tipu Sultan

Matric No: DGC140014

Name of Degree: Master of Dental Science

Title of Thesis: Combination of Platelet-Rich Fibrin and Calcium Sulfate in Socket Augmentation

Field of Study: Periodontology

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

COMBINATION OF PLATELET-RICH FIBRIN AND CALCIUM SULFATE IN SOCKET AUGMENTATION

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The aim of this clinical study was to evaluate and compare vertical, horizontal and volumetric dimensional changes of alveolar ridge using combinations of platelet-rich fibrin and calcium sulfate (PRF-CS) and platelet-rich fibrin and xenograft (PRF-X) in socket augmentation procedure. Materials and Methods: Ten subjects requiring single maxillary premolar tooth extraction were included. Five sockets received PRF-CS grafts and five sockets received PRF-X grafts. Stone cast models were used to assess the changes of soft tissue level. Cone beam computerized tomography (CBCT) images were produced to measure horizontal and vertical dimensions. The CBCT images were then exported into MIMICS software to analyze the bone volume. All measurements were recorded at baseline (before extraction) and at 5 months post-extraction. Results: Significant reduction in vertical and horizontal dimensions was observed in both the groups at 5 months post-extraction except for distal bone height (D_BH) (p=0.094) and palatal bone height (P_BH) (p=0.065) in PRF-X group. PRF-CS group demonstrated 12.2 % horizontal resorption as compared with 14.84% in PRF-X group (p>0.05). For PRF-CS group, resorption for mesial bone height (M_BH=19.58%), buccal bone height $(B_BH=18.87\%)$ and palatal bone height $(P_BH=15.66\%)$ was more than resorption for PRF-X (M_BH=8.48%, B_BH=7.26% and P_BH=4.33%) (*p*>0.05). The bone volume reduction of 11.43% and 7.74% was observed in PRF-CS group and PRF-X group respectively (p>0.05). Conclusion: PRF-CS can be used as a graft material for socket augmentation procedure.

Keywords: Extraction socket, socket augmentation, platelet-rich fibrin, calcium sulfate, xenograft

GABUNGAN FIBRIN KAYA PLATELET DAN KALSIUM SULFAT DALAM AUGMENTASI SOKET

ABSTRAK

Tujuan: Tujuan kajian klinikal ini adalah untuk menilai dan membandingkan perubahan dimensi menegak, mendatar dan volumetrik rabung alveolar dengan menggunakan gabungan fibrin kaya platelet dan kalsium sulfat (PRF-CS) dan fibrin kaya platelet dan xenograft (PRF-X) dalam prosedur augmentasi soket. Bahan dan Kaedah: Kajian ini melibatkan 10 subjek yang memerlukan cabutan tunggal gigi premolar di rahang maksila. Lima soket menerima graf PRF-CS dan lima soket menerima graf PRF-X. Model acuan batu digunakan untuk menilai perubahan tisu lembut. Imej Cone Beam CT (CBCT) dihasilkan untuk mengukur dimensi mendatar dan menegak. Kemudian, imej CBCT ini dimasukkan ke dalam perisian MIMICS telah digunakan untuk menganalisa isipadu tulang. Semua ukuran telah direkodkan pada garis dasar (sebelum cabutan gigi) dan pada 5 bulan selapas cabutan gigi. **Keputusan:** Pengurangan ketara dalam dimensi menegak dan mendatar telah diperhatikan dalam kedua-dua kumpulan pada 5 bulan selepas cabutan gigi kecuali ketinggian tulang distal (D_BH) (p = 0.094) dan ketinggian tulang palatal (P_BH) (p = 0.065) dalam kumpulan PRF-X. Kumpulan PRF-CS menunjukkan resorpsi mendatar 12.2% berbanding 14.84% dalam kumpulan PRF-X (p>0.05). Bagi kumpulan PRF-CS, resorpsi untuk ketinggian tulang mesial ($M_BH = 19.58\%$), ketinggian tulang buccal ($B_BH = 18.87\%$) dan ketinggian tulang palatal ($P_BH = 15.66\%$) adalah lebih daripada resorpsi untuk PRF-X ($M_BH = 8.48\%$, $B_BH = 7.26\%$ dan $P_BH = 4.33\%$) (p> 0.05). Pengurangan isipadu tulang sebanyak 11.43% dan 7.74% diperhatikan dalam kumpulan PRF-CS dan kumpulan PRF-X masing-masing (p> 0.05). Kesimpulan: PRF-CS mempunyai kesan dalam prosedur augmentasi soket.

Kata kunci: soket pengekstrakan, augmentasi soket, fibrin kaya platelet, kalsium sulfat, xenograf

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would extend my appreciations and immense gratitude to Almighty Allah for endowing me the strength, wisdom, and endless blessings which has made this project and thesis achievable.

I would like to sincerely express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Cheah Chia Wei, Dr. Rathna Devi Vaithilingam and Dr. Norliza Binti Ibrahim for their precious support, supervision, encouragement and inspirations to me during my Masters journey. Their clinical and didactic knowledge base has been a great resource for me over the last four years to produce a valuable piece of research conveyed in this thesis. This randomized clinical study was supported by the research grant of University Malaya, PG 195 2015A and BK040-2015. I would also like to thank the Department of Periodontics at the University of Malaya and Dental clinics for helping make this project possible.

I would like to express my admiration to Dr. Moinuddin Mohammed Quazi, Dr. Ghulam Mujtaba, Dr. Saad Ahmed Khan and Dr. Asfand Ali Khan for not only their assistance but their friendship over the last four years in every oppressive and repressive moments. A special thanks to Dr. Eshamsul Bin Sulaiman for his guidance, assistance and motivations.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to express my appreciation and a huge debt of gratitude to my wise and amazing father Adv. Iqbal Haider and my wonderful mother Mrs. Nusrat Sultana. I would like to extend heartiest appreciation to my parents for financial and moral support through the rough and tough times. Additionally, my parents have sacrificed their time, efforts to train me to become a person of importance and value to the society. I would also like to thank my fabulous fiancé Dr. Sumera Khan for her constant endless support, encouragement and provocations throughout this entire project and in my life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iii
Abstrak	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	xiii
List of Appendices	xv

CHA	APTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Tooth extraction/exodontia
1.2	Rationale of exodontia
1.3	Alveolar ridge resorption
1.4	Extraction socket augmentation
1.5	Effectiveness of extraction socket augmentation
1.6	Problem statement
1.7	Aim of the study7
1.8	Research objectives
1.9	Null hypothesis
	1.9.1 Research questions

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW......9

2.1	Events	of socket healing following tooth extraction	9
2.2	Factors	s affecting post-extraction healing	10
	2.2.1	Local factors	10

		2.2.1.1	Effects of multiple extractions10
		2.2.1.2	Traumatic extractions10
		2.2.1.3	Resorption in relation to dental arches
		2.2.1.4	Impact of tissue biotype on healing11
		2.2.1.5	Role of oxygenation12
		2.2.1.6	Infection12
	2.2.2	Systemi	c factors14
		2.2.2.1	Diabetes mellitus in healing14
		2.2.2.2	Smoking15
		2.2.2.3	Alcohol consumption15
		2.2.2.4	Influence of nutrition in healing16
		2.2.2.5	Role of medications in healing17
		2.2.2.6	Sex hormones
		2.2.2.7	Stress
2.3	Dimen	sional cha	nges of alveolar ridge after extraction19
2.4	Concep	ot of bone	regeneration
2.5	Socket	grafting a	and its types21
	2.5.1	Autogen	ous graft21
	2.5.2	Allograf	ts22
		2.5.2.1	Freeze-Dried Bone Allografts (FDBAs)23
		2.5.2.2	Demineralized Freeze-Dried Bone Allografts (DFDBAs)23
	2.5.3	Xenogra	fts
		2.5.3.1	Bovine derived xenografts25
		2.5.3.2	Equine derived bone graft material27
		2.5.3.3	Coral derived materials27
	2.5.4	Alloplas	ts28

		2.5.4.1 Calcium Phosphate	
		2.5.4.2 Bioactive glasses	29
		2.5.4.3 Calcium Sulfate	30
2.6	Growth	h regulatory factors	32
	2.6.1	Platelet-rich plasma	32
	2.6.2	Platelet-rich fibrin	33
		2.6.2.1 Comparison of PRF with other platelet concentrates	35
		2.6.2.2 Benefits of PRF	
2.7	Radiog	graphic assessment	
2.8	Radiog	graphic methods	40
	2.8.1	Intraoral radiography	40
	2.8.2	Panoramic radiography	40
	2.8.3	Cone beam computed tomography (CBCT)	41
	2.8.4	Materialise's Interactive Medical Image Control System (MIMICS	5)41
СН	APTER	3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	44
3.1	Introdu	action	44
3.2	Sample	e selection	44
	3.2.1	Sample size calculation	45
3.3	Pre-ext	traction preparation	45
3.4	Extract	tion procedures	47
	3.4.1	Procurement of PRF	47
	3.4.2	Surgical technique	49
	3.4.3	Measurements of M _B H, D _B H and SH	52
	3.4.4	Measurements of B _B H, P _B H and W	54
	3.4.5	Bone volumetric assessment	56

3.5	Flow c	hart of the methodology	.61
	3.5.1	Reproducibility study	.61
	3.5.2	Outcomes of the reproducibility study	.62

- - 4.2.1 Comparison of mesial bone height (M_BH) within and between groups...65
 - 4.2.2 Comparison of distal bone height (D_BH) within and between groups65
 - 4.2.3 Comparison of bone socket height (SH) within and between groups66
 - 4.2.4 Comparison of buccal bone height (B_BH) within and between groups....67
 - 4.2.5 Comparison of palatal bone height (P_BH) within and between groups 67
 - 4.2.6 Comparison of horizontal bone width (W) within and between groups ...68

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION73

5.1	Study design and subject recruitment	73
5.2	Surgical procedure	76
5.3	Post-operative management	80
5.4	Measurements and records	80
5.5	Changes in horizontal dimensions	82
5.6	Changes in vertical dimensions	83
5.7	Changes in soft tissue dimensions	86
5.8	Volumetric analysis	88
5.9	Clinical significance	89

5.9	Chinical significance
CH	APTER 6: CONCLUSION91
6.1	Introduction91
6.2	Research outcomes
6.3	Limitations and future work91
Refe	erences
List	of Publications and Papers Presented119
App	endix

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.5.1: Output of the reproducibility study
Table 4.1.1 Demographic characteristics of subjects augmented with PRF-CS or PRF-X
Table 4.2.1 Changes in mesial bone height (M_BH) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.2 Changes in distal bone height (D_BH) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.3 Changes in bone socket height (SH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.4 Changes in buccal bone height (B _B H) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.5 Changes in palatal bone height (P _B H) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.6 Changes in horizontal bone width (W) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.2.7 Changes in volume of bone from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group
Table 4.3.1 Changes in mesial soft tissue height (M _s H) from baseline to 5 months post- extrction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group70
Table 4.3.2 Changes in distal soft tissue height (D _s H) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group71
Table 4.3.3 Changes in buccal soft tissue height (B _s H) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group71
Table 4.3.4 Changes in palatal soft tissue height (P _s H) from baseline to 5 months post- extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group72

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- B_BH : Buccal bone height
- B_{SH} : Buccal soft tissue height
- *BMP* : Bone morphogenetic protein
- β -TCP : Beta tricalcium phosphate
- *CBCT* : Cone beam computed tomography
- *CS* : Calcium sulfate
- *CT* : Computed tomography
- DFDBA : Demineralized freeze dried bone allograft
- D_BH : Distal bone height
- $D_{S}H$: Distal soft tissue height
- EGF : Epithelial growth factor
- *ePTFE* : Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene
- FDBA : Freeze dried bone allograft
- *FGF* : Fibroblast growth factor
- FOV : Field of view
- *HA* : Hydroxyapatite
- HU : Hounsfield
- *IBD* : Intrabony defects
- *IGF* : Insulin like growth factor
- *IL* : Interleukin
- M_BH : Mesial bone height
- $M_{S}H$: Mesial soft tissue height
- *Mg* : Milligram
- *MGCSH* : Medical grade calcium sulfate hemihydrate

- *MIMICS* : Materialise's interactive medical image control system
- *mm* : Millimeter
- *mm*³ : Cubicmeter
- μm : Micrometer
- *OPG* : Orthopantomogram
- *PDGF* : Platelet derived growth factor
- PD : Periodontal defects
- P_BH : Palatal bone height
- $P_{S}H$: Palatal soft tissue height
- *PRF* : Platelet-rich fibrin
- *PoC* : Percentage of changes
- *PRP* : Platelet-rich plasma
- *PRF-CS* : Platelet rich fibrin and calcium sulfate
- *PRF-X* : Platelet-rich fibrin and xenograft
- *SH* : Socket height
- *TCP* : Tricalcium phosphate
- *TGF* : Transforming growth factor
- *TMJ* : Temporomandibular joint
- *TNF*- α : Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- *VEGF* : Vascular endothelial growth factor
- *W* : Horizontal bone width
- X : Xenograft

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Ethical Approval Letter	120
Appendix B: Patients' Consent Form	121
Appendix C: Data Collection Form	123

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Tooth extraction/exodontia

Extraction is a process of removing tooth from its socket in the alveolar bone and is a most widely performed procedure in dentistry. Extraction of a tooth is advised when a tooth cannot be sustained in an adequate condition for longstanding health, esthetics and function (Avila-Ortiz et al., 2014). Depending on the location of tooth loss, it causes functional impairment such as on chewing and esthetics (Gerritsen et al., 2010). After tooth extraction, the alveolar bone experiences a remodelling process that results in a pronounced diminution of alveolar ridge. A definitive preclinical study with a canine model reported severe resorption of the buccal plate in the first 8 weeks coming from marked osteoclastic activity (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005). More distinct resorption on the crestal level of the buccal wall to the lingual wall was documented in the study. There are two distinct phases to define the pattern of resorption; the bundle bone resorption and replacement with the woven bone, and both buccal and lingual wall resorption from the outer surfaces. This resorption pattern occurs because of the thinner buccal plate when compared to the lingual plate of alveolar bone. The blood supply of the bundle bone is discontinued after tooth extraction, resulting in less nutrient supply and significant resorption of the buccal plate (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005).

1.2 Rationale of exodontia

Endodontic lesion, severe periodontitis and trauma are the basic and most common reasons of exodontia (Checchi et al., 2011). The most common and well known causative agent which leads to exodontia in all age groups are dental caries (Ainamo et al., 1984). However, after 40 years of age, periodontitis also plays a key role in permanent tooth loss (Kay & Blinkhorn, 1986). In addition, other categories of extractions are also described by Kay and Blinkhorn (1986) such as; pre-prosthetic tooth extraction for a better prosthetic restoration, orthodontic tooth extraction to avert or correct malocclusion and wisdom tooth extraction. Other frequently occurring causes of extractions are pulp necrosis, cracked teeth, malposition teeth, and supernumerary teeth, teeth associated with pathologic lesions and patients who are to receive radiation therapy for head, neck and oral cancer.

1.3 Alveolar ridge resorption

The whole anatomy of the alveolar ridge is determined by the eruption axis of teeth, their prospective inclinations and tooth form (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005). Subsequent to tooth extraction, the fundic portion of the bony extraction socket will be filled by connective tissue and bone whereas alveolar crest resorbs (Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967). The basic phenomenon is that the crestal part of alveolar bone is solely comprised of bundle bone. Following extraction, a marked osteoclastic activity occurs that results in the resorption and replacement of the bundle bone of crestal region to woven bone on the buccal side. Hence, the crest of the buccal bone shifts at a greater extent compared to its original palatal or lingual site, resulting in considerable vertical reduction. It has been documented in various studies that after extraction, bone resorption is more noticeable at the buccal aspect as it is generally thinner in comparison to lingual or palatal aspects (Johnson, 1969; Lekovic et al., 1998; Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967; Schropp et al., 2003). In addition, greater resorption occurs in width averaging 2.6 and 4.6 mm rather than the height with average of 0.4 and 3.9 mm of alveolar ridge in natural healing (Ten Heggeler et al., 2011). Furthermore, both human and animal studies showed that the marginal 1/3 of the sockets exhibits most of the hard tissue loss (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005; Misawa et al., 2016). The amount of bone resorption is greatest within the initial 3-6 months of extraction and it continues after this period (Schropp et al., 2003; Tan et al., 2012). Moreover, alveolar bone loss is very critical for dental restorations, as adequate amount of bone is essential for reconstruction.

1.4 Extraction socket augmentation

Extraction socket augmentation procedure appears to rescue more bone after tooth removal (Zhang et al., 2018). The augmented extraction sockets have less bone resorption and maintained hard and soft tissues in comparison to non-augmented sockets (Barone et al., 2012; Hauser. et al., 2013). Darby et al. (2009) in a systematic review have concluded that the socket augmentation approach may reduce the resorption of alveolar bone width and height and may slow the process of alveolar bone resorption. Furthermore, several studies have reported that socket augmentation procedures prevent the soft and hard tissue collapse and can minimize the requirement for future augmentation procedures (Cardaropoli & Cardaropoli, 2008; Fickl et al., 2008; Fickl. et al., 2008a). Hence, preservation of the alveolus by socket augmentation at the time of extraction is crucial to maintain adequate quantity of alveolar bone for optimal dental restorations.

1.5 Effectiveness of extraction socket augmentation

Current systematic reviews have shown the effectiveness and confirmed the efficiency of socket augmentation and its potential to inhibit alveolar bone resorption. Vignoletti et al. (2012a) reported that non-grafted site had more alveolar ridge width and height loss when compared to the sites that received bone graft. Authors of this study reported that these sites reduced 1.83mm and 1.47mm in width and height respectively. Avila-Ortiz et al. (2014) reported that the socket augmentation sites with the use of xenograft or allograft reduced in buccal height and ridge width for about 2.07mm and 1.89mm respectively compared to natural healing. In addition, the study also concluded that the use of a membrane with xenograft or allograft and flapped approach showed beneficial effects. Nevertheless, a previous study by Fickl. et al. (2008b) confirmed that if the flapped approach is applied in extraction surgery, the opened flap blocks the blood supply of the buccal bone wall and further enhancing the resorption of buccal bone wall. Araujo et al. (2015) reported that the flapless tooth extraction causes reduction in the dimensional changes of the hard tissues after socket augmentation. A recent study also reported that the flapless approach in socket augmentation procedure favored the maintenance of ridge dimensions, decreased the loss of buccal bone crest and enhanced bone formation (de Barros et al., 2017).

Several ridge preservation procedures have been explained, including socket augmentation with autografts, xenografts, allografts and alloplasts material either combined with resorbable or non-resorbable membranes. Recently, Jambhekar et al. (2015) reported xenografts as an effective material followed by allografts and alloplasts in socket augmentation when compared to extraction alone. In addition, the remnants of graft material was highest for allografts followed by xenografts and alloplasts (Jambhekar et al., 2015). The usage of resorbable or non-resorbable membranes with these bone substitutes showed loss of soft tissue thickness and reduced ridge width, ultimately compromising the final outcome (Iasella et al., 2003). The high concentration of bone substitutes remnants may decrease the final osseointegration between bone and implant (Anwandter et al., 2016). Autografts are considered as gold standard but frequently include limited availability and donor site morbidity. Overall, socket augmentation

Innovative biological procedures have been proposed to overcome the disadvantages of autografts and non-vital bone substitutes (Simon et al., 2011). The latter involves first and second-generation platelet concentrates. The first group includes platelet-rich plasma (PRP). In the preparation of PRPs, artificial additives (e.g. thrombin, anticoagulants or calcium chloride) are used to operate the coagulation process. Concentration of platelets and a fine fibrin mesh are richly present in PRPs (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010).

The second generation platelet concentrates contain leukocytes and platelet-rich fibrin (PRF). It was initially introduced in France by Choukroun et al. (2001). PRF is prepared

by a centrifugation process from patients' own blood without the inclusion of any coagulation or anticoagulants factor. The naturally manufactured coagulation in PRF preparation results in a fibrin clot in which 97% of circulating platelets and 50% of leukocytes are present (Dohan. et al., 2006b). The fibrin clot is detached from the red components and the supernatant acellular plasma. Depending on clinical needs, the fibrin clot can be shaped by light compression to form either a membrane or a plug (Dohan. et al., 2006a). These membranes comprise of highly dense cross-linked fibrin mesh in three dimensions containing viable platelets. Multiple growth factors, anti-inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules are released by this biologically active PRF for up to 1 week (D. M. Dohan et al., 2006; Dohan. et al., 2006a). With the existence of growth factors, adhesion molecules and cytokines, PRF can increase the effectiveness of angiogenesis. tissue regeneration and neovascularization, regulate reparative inflammatory response and decrease postoperative edema and pain. These characteristics of PRF make it a biologically adequate graft for socket augmentation. In comparison with non-bioactive graft materials, PRF may enhance the tissue regeneration once applied in the extraction sockets (Anwandter et al., 2016).

Calcium sulfate (CS) is a type of alloplastic material and has been employed since many years in clinical use compared to recent biomaterials. It is widely accepted as a socket grafting material and undergoes rapid and complete resorption. In the presence of bone, mostly it becomes osteogenic (Guarnieri et al., 2004). Crespi et al. (2009) reported rapid resorption of CS and improved bone formation compared to magnesium-enriched hydroxyapatite (MHA) in socket augmentation procedure at 3 months of histologic evaluation. CS provides a mechanism to increase new bone growth. Strocchi et al. (2002) reported in a study that CS creates an osteoconductive lattice that stimulates bone ingrowth into a defect. Xenografts are the graft biomaterials extracted from animal origin (bovine or equine) (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). They have osteoconductive properties and biocompatible to the human recipients. The trabecular architecture with the presence of interconnecting pores in xenograft permits optimum in-growth of new vascularity. MinerOss®, is a commercially available biocompatible an organic porous bovine derived bone mineral for use in periodontal, oral and maxillofacial surgery. MinerOss® is formed by elimination of all organic elements from bovine bone. It is available in cancellous and cortical forms. A recent study was conducted by Serrano Mendez et al. (2017) to compare the healing by applying allografts and xenografts for extraction socket augmentation. Ten patients received demineralized freeze-dried cortical bone allograft and ten patients received deproteinized cancellous bovine bone xenograft. On histological analysis after 6 months of extraction, new bone formation was higher ($35.3 \pm 16.8\%$) at the xenograft sites when compared with allograft augmented sites ($25.5 \pm 10.1\%$). The study concluded that both grafting materials are suitable for alveolar ridge preservation.

1.6 Problem statement

In the abovementioned studies when individually employed grafting materials including PRF, CS and xenografts were utilized, the alveolar bone healing characteristics were significantly improved (Aimetti et al., 2009; Barone et al., 2008; Hauser. et al., 2013). Moreover, recent studies employed the combination of various grafting materials (such as, PRP and CS, PRP and xenograft, PRF and xenograft etc.) and reported the improved healing with minimal ridge resorption (Cheah et al., 2014; Kutkut et al., 2012; Potres et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2013). In aforementioned combinations, PRF-X showed superior results. However, xenograft is derived from different species and is expensive thus may not be acceptable to all patients. In search for an alternative grafting material, combination of PRF-CS was proposed to be used for socket augmentation in this study.

1.7 Aim of the study

The aim of this study is to evaluate and compare dimensional (vertical and horizontal) and volumetric changes of alveolar ridge when using combination of platelet-rich fibrin with calcium sulfate (PRF-CS) as compared to PRF-xenograft (MinerOss®X) (PRF-X) in socket augmentation procedure.

1.8 Research objectives

The study will focus on the following research objectives:

- 1. To compare the vertical alveolar bone resorption of extraction sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- 2. To compare the horizontal alveolar bone resorption of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- 3. To investigate and compare the changes in soft tissue levels of extraction sockets that have been augmented using PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- 4. To investigate and compare the volumetric changes of extraction sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.

1.9 Null hypothesis

The null hypothesis of this study is that there is no significant difference in dimensional (vertical and horizontal) and volumetric changes of alveolar ridge between PRF-CS augmented and PRF-X augmented extraction sockets.

1.9.1 Research questions

- 1. Is there any difference in vertical alveolar bone resorption of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X?
- 2. Is there any difference in horizontal alveolar bone resorption of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X?

- 3. Is there any difference in soft tissue levels of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X?
- 4. Is there any difference in volumetric changes of extraction sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X?

university

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Events of socket healing following tooth extraction

A human study by Amler (1969) has been reported to describe detailed and accurate time sequence for tissue healing in human extraction socket wounds. The study explained the episodes of human extraction socket healing in uninterrupted extraction wounds histologically. The author concluded the five different stages in osseous socket healing after tooth extraction as shown in Figure 2.1 (Amler, 1969).



Figure 2.1: Summary of the duration of extraction socket healing in humans

2.2 Factors affecting post-extraction healing

Healing following tooth extractions depends on various factors. Generally, they can be characterized into local and systemic factors.

2.2.1 Local factors

The following are some local factors that prolong the process of healing after tooth extraction for example effects of multiple extractions or size of the extraction sockets, traumatic extractions or extractions achieved by surgical process, impacts of tissue biotype on healing, variation between sites in the mouth or dental arch differences, oxygenation and pre and post-extraction infection at the site of wound area.

2.2.1.1 Effects of multiple extractions

Wide socket area which is commonly observed in multiple and traumatic extractions which cause large defects that ultimately affects the healing process and require more time to heal (Amler, 1969). The most common post-extraction complication in multiple extractions are pain, trismus and infection (dry socket) (Capuzzi et al., 1994). There is also pronounced apicoronal changes observed at multiple extraction sites as compared to single extraction site (Johnson, 1969).

2.2.1.2 Traumatic extractions

There is a marked alteration of tissue contours and architecture of alveolar ridge following tooth extraction. It has already been studied that the coronal portion of the buccal bone wall is comprised entirely of bundle bone. After extraction, this bundle bone resorbed gradually because of the osteoclastic activity that ultimately results in significant reduction of horizontal and vertical buccal crest (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005). Surgical technique with flap elevation approach for extraction of tooth and clearing the buccal bone may cause additional harmful reactions on healing and resorption process (Hauser. et al., 2013; Wilderman, 1963; Wood et al., 1972). Furthermore, flap elevation may

increase the chances of gingival recession and hard tissue alterations (Fickl. et al., 2008a). Tarakji et al. (2015) reported that vigorous and traumatic extraction techniques alter the extraction socket and release direct tissue activators that convert plasminogen to plasmin, dissolves the fibrin clot and resulting the most common post-operative complications of pain and foul smell termed as alveolar osteitis (dry socket).

2.2.1.3 **Resorption in relation to dental arches**

The mandibular arch has less blood supply and vascular blood flow as compared to maxillary arch. This leads to a more resorption of the mandibular arch after tooth extraction compared to maxilla (Atwood & Coy, 1971; Schropp et al., 2003). A study by Pietrokovski and Massler (1967) reported that both the maxillary and mandibular arches have thin and frail buccal plates and cause more resorption compared to palatal and lingual plates. Therefore, due to the thin buccal plates, these arches usually experience distortion during tooth removal and may result in pronounced resorption.

2.2.1.4 Impact of tissue biotype on healing

A study by Ochsenbein and Ross (1969) reported that the gingival architecture mimics the underlying bone and defines the gingival outlines as scalloped or flat. Seibert and Lindhe (1989) used the word periodontal biotype and classified the gingiva towards 'thinscalloped' or 'thick-flat'. A gingival thickness of less than 1.5 mm is considered as thin biotype whereas a gingival thickness more than 2 mm is defined as thick biotype (Abraham et al., 2014). Thin scalloped biotype occurs in thin underlying alveolar bone and accompanied with more gingival recession with great magnitude at the buccal aspect. Cook et al. (2011) described that there is an important association among the gingival biotype and thickness of the buccal plates in such a way that thin biotypes are associated with thin buccal bone. Thick gingival tissue has an improved blood supply which will promote the revascularization of bone grafts, accelerate graft incorporation and healing. These thick gingival tissues are also capable of achieving and sustaining primary closure during healing (Abraham et al., 2014).

2.2.1.5 Role of oxygenation

Oxygen, carried by blood is an important factor for all cell activities, cell metabolism and healing of wounds. Many metabolically active cells consume high amounts of oxygen. Following extraction, there is vascular disruption. This causes oxygen depletion in the micro-environment of early wounds and finally causes hypoxia (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). In addition, numerous systemic conditions like diabetes and advancing age impairs vascular flow, consequently setting the level for deficient tissue oxygenation. A study by Bishop (2008) reported the importance of oxygen as it upgrades angiogenesis, differentiation of keratinocytes, migration and re-epithelialization, increases fibroblast proliferation and synthesis of collagen and ultimately encourages wound contraction. After injury, temporary hypoxia initiates wound healing but if hypoxia persists, it causes delayed wound healing (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Hypoxia also actuates wound healing by activating endothelium and platelets, and by encouraging cytokines released from monocytes, platelets and parenchymal cells [e.g. tumor necrosis factor (TNF), plateletderived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor (TGF), vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF)] (Schreml et al., 2010). In wound healing, these cytokines and growth factors are important supporters for cell proliferation, chemotaxis and migration and angiogenesis.

2.2.1.6 Infection

Bacteria present in dental biofilms comprise of compound communities of aggregated microorganisms placed within a self-produced extracellular polysaccharide matrix (Edwards & Harding, 2004). The mature biofilms develop defensive micro-environments which are resistant to common antibiotics. *Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus)*, β -

hemolytic streptococci and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*) are common bacteria in infected wounds (Edwards & Harding, 2004). Once a surface is injured, microorganisms obtain entrance to the underlying tissues. Contamination is the process of non-replicating micro-organisms, colonization is the appearance of replicating organisms with tissue damage and local infection is the initiation of organisms with local tissue response. Invasive infection is the existence of organisms with successive host injury (Guo & DiPietro, 2010).

Chronic inflammation with damage of tooth supporting tissues is primarily caused by micro-organisms derived from infected root canals. Periapical lesions and apical periodontitis are critically poly-microbial infections produced by opportunistic and anaerobic bacteria. The presence of periapical and periodontal lesion may also affect the healing sequence of wounds by enhancing the inflammatory process. In a human study by Ferrus et al. (2010), immediate implants placement in periodontitis sites exhibited a mean vertical defect fill of 60% when compared to 83% defect fill in non-periodontitis sites at 16 weeks after second stage surgery.

Dental treatments are considered high risk for medically compromised patients and it is recommended that prophylaxis be given to patients before gingival manipulation or periapical region of teeth and prior to perforate oral mucosa for dental procedures. Moreno-Drada and García-Perdomo (2016) reported in a systematic review that the incidence of localized infections in patients undergoing tooth extraction can be decreased with the use of prophylactic antibiotics. However, it is controversial whether to use preoperative prophylactic antibiotics. This decision would be based on whether the patient has any medical risk factors which could influence the patient's defense mechanism such as; uncontrolled diabetes, immunosuppressive diseases, kidney diseases and patients' taking chemotherapeutic agents or immunosuppressive drugs (Moreno-Drada & García-Perdomo, 2016).

2.2.2 Systemic factors

The following are some systemic factors that may affect the process of healing after tooth extraction such as; diabetes mellitus, obesity, alcohol consumption, smoking, influence of nutrition on healing, role of medications, effects of aging on healing, sex hormones, conflicts caused by stress.

2.2.2.1 Diabetes mellitus in healing

Diabetes mellitus is a disorder which influences millions of people worldwide. It is characterized as a metabolic disease in which impairment in insulin secretion causes hyperglycemia. Type 1 diabetes mellitus is a complete deficiency of insulin-secreting beta cells of pancreas while type 2 diabetes mellitus is characterized by impaired insulin secretion. Retzepi and Donos (2010) reported in a review study that both types of diabetes mellitus impair osseous wound healing and cause bone loss in osseointegration of implants. In patients with diabetes mellitus, during the initial osseous healing period, reduced cellularity and diminished osteoid matrix production were observed (Weiss & Reddi, 1980). The impaired healing was occurred due to hypoxia, impaired neovascularization and angiogenesis, fibroblasts dysfunction and epidermal cells growth and increased levels of metalloproteases.

Diabetes mellitus is also associated with prolonged healing time because of the delayed osteoblasts differentiation and genesis of cell proliferation. Younis et al. in 2013 conducted an animal study to assess the healing pattern of tooth sockets in diabetic rabbits. They observed the expressions of transforming growth factor (TGF) beta-3, insulin like growth factor (IGF) -1R, vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and bone morphogenetic protein-4 in sockets immunohistochemically. The untreated diabetic

group showed an increase in IGF-1R and prolonged healing time while the group treated with insulin represented high levels of TGF beta-3 and less IGF-1R and accelerated and enhanced socket healing (Younis et al., 2013).

2.2.2.2 Smoking

The negative impacts of smoking on healing have been observed for a long-time (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Tobacco contains nicotine which influences oral wound healing by decreasing capillary blood flow. Substances used in tobacco particularly cotinine, carbon monoxide and nicotine are cytotoxic to wound healing. Nicotine stimulates sympathetic nervous activity, releases adrenaline which causes decreased tissue perfusion and peripheral vasoconstriction (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Kasat and Ladda (2012) had reported that nicotine decreases fibrinolytic activity and increases platelet adhesiveness, which ultimately increases blood viscosity. In addition, nicotine enhances platelet adhesiveness, increasing micro vascular occlusion and tissue ischemia and also induces catecholamine release which results in vasoconstriction and reduced tissue perfusion (Al-Belasy, 2004). Patients who smokes post-operatively, showed a hindrance in healing of wound and increase in complications like infection, anastomotic leakage, wound rupture, flap necrosis and decreased tensile strength of wounds (Guo & DiPietro, 2010).

2.2.2.3 Alcohol consumption

Acute alcohol exposure causes disturbances in wound healing patterns, increases the post-injury infections by diminishing recruitment of neutrophil and phagocytic function (Greiffenstein & Molina, 2008). A significant delay was observed in the formation of reparative bone in alcoholic rats' leading to prolonged alveolar wound healing (Bombonato-Prado et al., 2004).

2.2.2.4 Influence of nutrition in healing

Improper diet or malnutrition has a profound impact on wound healing. The amount of carbohydrate, proteins, fat and vitamins have a major role on the healing process (Arnold & Barbul, 2006). Patients with unhealed or chronic wounds should to have a history of nutritional deficiencies (Guo & DiPietro, 2010).

Carbohydrates have been well known as the main origin of energy for all functions of cells. A catabolic state induced by injury or wounds will increase the demands of energy. The metabolism of carbohydrates richly produce glucose which later on converts into cellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) followed by energy production for angiogenesis and newly formed tissue deposition (Shepherd, 2003).

Protein is an important factor affecting healing of wounds. Its deficiency can impair fibroblast proliferation, capillary formation, collagen and proteoglycan synthesis and finally compromise wound remodeling. Moreover, protein malnutrition also affects the immunity with increased susceptibility to infections. Arginine is classified as a semiessential amino acid and plays a major role in wound healing, immune system, hormone secretion, vascular and endothelial functions (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Glutamine, another class of proteins stimulates inflammatory immune response which is required in early wound healing (Arnold & Barbul, 2006).

Fatty acids and vitamins provide nutritional support and building blocks for tissue repair and wound healing. A class of fatty acid, omega-3 has the ability to enhance systematic immune function and decrease infectious complications (Arnold & Barbul, 2006). Vitamins C and E are considered to have potent anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant properties. Vitamin C plays various roles in healing of wounds. Vitamin C deficiency causes many problems such as compromised immune system, diminished collagen synthesis, decreased fibroblast proliferation thus reducing angiogenesis (Guo &

DiPietro, 2010). Vitamin E possesses anti-inflammatory effects and reduces excess scar formation in chronic wounds.

2.2.2.5 Role of medications in healing

Some medications have an important influence on healing like non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), antihypertensive drugs, chemotherapeutic drugs and glucocorticoid steroids. NSAIDs and glucocorticoids are used as an anti-inflammatory drug. They are considered to be among the most commonly used drugs in the treatment of acute or chronic pain. The mechanism of action of NSAIDs is to reduce the prostaglandin synthesis by inhibiting the cyclooxygenase (COX) activity. Prostaglandins in association with cytokines and other growth factors play a key role for dynamic and complex processes of bone healing. Similarly, NSAIDs have been shown to decrease the healing process in animal and human studies (Gajraj, 2003; Radi & Khan, 2005). They are associated with reduced bone area, bone density and decreased bone-implant contact causing delayed peri-implant bone healing (Fu et al., 2012).

Usage of oral contraceptives was reported to be associated with a substantial increase in the incidence of dry socket. Increased level of estrogen by oral contraceptive causes local increase of fibrinolytic activity which leads to large amount of plasmin production that digests the fibrin clot inside an extraction socket and results in infection and delayed healing (Catellani et al., 1980).

Chemotherapeutic drugs also impair normal healing process by inhibiting cellular activity, decreasing migration of cell to the wound site and matrix formation, diminished fibroblasts proliferation and wounds contraction (Franz et al., 2007).

Bisphosphonates are generally used in the management of Paget's disease, osteoporosis, multiple myeloma and some metastatic tumors. The bone in the oral cavity

differs from other bones of the body. Jaw bone developed from intramembranous ossification consists of fatty marrow which is highly exposed to microorganisms. In addition, oral cavity bones have vulnerability to osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ) when treated with bisphosphonates (Allen, 2011). The effects of bisphosphonates are transient in relation to production of bone in the healing socket. Studies showed that when longer durations (14-70 days) of healing were observed, no difference was found between controls and bisphosphonate treated group and similar blood vessel number, area and similar bone volume was noted (Allen, 2011). Anti-hypertensive drugs also have great impact on soft tissue changes. Most commonly used are calcium channel blockers which have been shown to cause gingival enlargements in some cases (Sharma & Sharma, 2012).

2.2.2.6 Sex hormones

Sex hormones have a pronounced effect on healing. A study reported that female estrogens, male androgens and their steroid progenitor dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) seem to possess important roles on wound healing in both men and women (Gilliver et al., 2007). Female sex hormones cause early healing as compared to male hormones in acute injuries (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Similarly, estrogen regulates numerous genes that are associated with regeneration, epidermal function, matrix production, inflammation and protease inhibition (Guo & DiPietro, 2010).

2.2.2.7 Stress

Stress possesses great influence on social behavior and human health. It is related to poorer wound healing. The mechanism by which stress affects wound healing is through the hypothalamic-pituitary gland which modulates the release of pituitary and adrenal hormones. These hormones contain prolactin, cortisol, adrenocorticotrophic hormones (ACTH), epinephrine and nor-epinephrine. At the wound site, stress reduces the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF- α by up-regulating glucocorticoids (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Stress also decreases IL-1 α and IL-8, which serves as chemoattractants for early inflammatory phase in the process of wound healing (Godbout & Glaser, 2006). In addition, glucocorticoids control immune cells by regulating gene transcription, arresting proliferation and differentiation and decreasing cell adhesion molecules expression. The glucocorticoid cortisol functions as an anti-inflammatory agent and modulates type 1 helper cells (Th1) mediated immune response that is important for the initial healing phases. Moreover, the level of glucocorticoid cortisol increases during stress which alters immune response consequently leading to the impaired wound healing (Guo & DiPietro, 2010). Therefore, psychological stress disturbs cell mediated immunity resulting in remarkable delay in healing (Godbout & Glaser, 2006).

2.3 Dimensional changes of alveolar ridge after extraction

The initial attempts to study the phenomenon of alveolar ridge resorption started in the early 1960s (Amler et al., 1960). A classic preclinical study by Araújo and Lindhe (2005) reported an enormous resorption at the buccal plate of a canine model within 2 months after extraction characterized by pronounced osteoclastic activity. They observed marked resorption at the crestal surface of the buccal wall when related to the lingual wall. The study also documented loss in height of both bony walls of alveolar ridge, though the buccal wall crest was constantly more apical to the lingual wall crest.

The magnitude of the dimensional changes of alveolar ridge following tooth extraction was investigated by Schropp et al. (2003) using study casts. The authors observed that the alveolar ridge dimensions altered over the 12 months study period. The alveolar ridge width had decreased by around 50% with the loss of alveolar ridge height being less considerable. Although, the changes came over the 12 months study period, around 2/3rds

of the ridge dimensional changes appeared in the initial 3 months after tooth extraction. Systematic reviews reported that alveolar ridge dimensional changes following extraction in humans were roughly 3.5mm of ridge width reduction and 1.5mm of ridge height reduction after tooth extraction (Van der Weijden et al., 2009; Vignoletti et al., 2012a).

One of the variables that may also effect the healing of the extraction sockets is the surgical method utilized. The choice of extractions between a flapless and a flapped approach procedure may disturb the ridge dimensions. After a full-thickness flap reflection, 0.6mm loss of crestal height was reported in humans (Wood et al., 1972). A study in a canine model found 0.5mm to 0.7mm of additional volumetric shrinkage when using flap elevation compared to flapless extractions at 4 months of healing (Fickl. et al., 2008b). Interestingly, a study using canine teeth had observed no changes in volume in a flapless or flapped method after 6 months post-extraction (Araujo & Lindhe., 2009).

To avoid or restrict the alveolar ridge modification, numerous preservation procedures have been narrated, including socket augmentation with autografts, allografts, xenografts or alloplastic materials, used in combination with resorbable and non-resorbable membranes (Anwandter et al., 2016).

2.4 Concept of bone regeneration

Extraction socket augmentation helps to reduce ridge atrophy, reduce bone resorption and maintain soft and hard tissues that provides primary stability to future prosthesis and implants and also minimize the necessity of additional bone grafting procedures. Studies have also proved that at the time of extraction, the augmented extraction sockets have less resorption of bone and maintain hard and soft tissues in comparison to non-augmented sockets (Barone et al., 2012; Fickl. et al., 2008a; Hauser. et al., 2013). Basically the concept of socket augmentation or alveolar ridge preservation has been introduced since 1980's (Casey & Lauciello, 1980; Von Wowern & Winther, 1981).
2.5 Socket grafting and its types

Socket grafting is a procedure attempted to minimizes the resorption of bone after tooth extraction. Socket grafting provides a predictable, easy way to save the buccolingual and mesiodistal dimensions of extraction sockets and alveolar ridge for future dental restorations (Jackson & Morcos, 2007). It also permits the regeneration of bone where the alveolar ridge is compromised and resorbed. Evidence directs that effective grafting relies on the presence of cells in the graft, mainly of the subset of stem cells and progenitors that have the ability to create new tissues (Muschler & Midura, 2002). Therefore, selection of a source which can efficiently enhance and differentiate into bone tissues is the most important and first step for bone regeneration. Grafting materials are used for various clinical applications due to their osteogenic, osteoinductive and osteoconductive properties (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). McAllister and Haghighat (2007) in a review study have explained these terms as; osteogenesis has been narrated as the direct transfer of vital cells to the area that will regenerate new bone. Osteoinduction represents the principle of converting pluripotential, mesenchymal-derived cells along an osteoblast pathway with the subsequent formation of bone. Osteoconduction embraces the concept of giving the space and a substratum for the cellular and biochemical events which continue to bone formation (McAllister & Haghighat, 2007). There are four types of graft materials namely, autografts, allografts, xenografts, and alloplasts. All these materials are briefly discussed in subsequent sections.

2.5.1 Autogenous graft

Autograft is a graft harvested and transferred from extraoral or intraoral sites of the same individual (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). Autografts are the most predictable organic graft which possesses highly osteogenic properties for osseous tissue regeneration. The common sites for harvesting autografts are the mandible (mandibular ramus, chin and mandibular corpus), the maxilla (crista zygomatico-alveolaris, spina nasalis and tuber),

the calvaria, the tibia and the iliac crest (pelvic rim). The morbidity ratio is less with intraoral donor sites in comparison to extraoral sites (Misch, 1997).

Autografts can be of cortical or cancellous nature or a composite of both. Due to the soft and porous structure of cancellous grafts, it has the ability to revascularize shortly, after the fifth day of transplantation when compared to cortical grafts. Cortical grafts show great initial strength that reduces over time. After 6 months of implantation, cortical grafts have been found to be 50%-60% weaker in strength in comparison to normal bone (Wilk, 2004). Conversely, cancellous autografts continue to gain strength over a period of time to achieve maximum dimensional stability (Sheikh et al., 2013).

Autografts are currently considered as "gold standard" for bone regeneration due to its osteoconduction, osteoinduction and osteogenesis-inducing properties (Fernandez et al., 2015). Nevertheless, autografts infrequently have significant disadvantages such as increased postoperative pain and morbidity, requirement for an additional surgery, limited graft volume and absence of appropriate bone mass on the donor site. Interestingly, a study reported patients' preferences for bone grafts utilized in dentistry (Fernandez et al., 2015). The lowest refusal rates for grafts were the autografts (3 %) followed by alloplasts (2 %) while the highest rates of refusal from patients were for allografts and xenografts.

2.5.2 Allografts

Allografts are bone grafts harvested from cadaver donors and processed by either freezing alone or demineralization and freezing (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). These grafts are then sterilized and supplied by specially licensed tissue banks as bone particles or large blocks. Bone allografts are harvested from genetically different members of same species mostly human cadavers. Allografts can be of cortical or cancellous in nature or both in combination. They are used in sinus augmentation, alveolar ridge preservation and socket augmentation after tooth extraction (Clark et al., 2018; Kolerman et al., 2017). The

resorption rate of allografts is very slow in socket augmentation applications. The demineralized forms of allografts are resorbed more rapidly than calcium and phosphorus salts (freeze dried bone allograft) containing allografts (Beck & Mealey, 2010).

2.5.2.1 Freeze-Dried Bone Allografts (FDBAs)

Freeze-dried bone allografts (FDBAs) are obtained from cortical bone within 12 hours after death of the donor, defatted, cut into small pieces and after that cleansed in alcohol and then deep frozen. It acts as a scaffold and is considered as an osteoconductive material, space maintaining for new bone regeneration and can be applied in combination with autografts to increase osteogenic potentials of grafting materials. In addition, it is also available in cancellous forms. Cortical FDBAs enhance volume of bone matrix that increases the resorption time of graft and contains less antigenicity. FDBAs with its property of osteoconduction have been proved to be a successful grafting material in periodontal osseous defects assessed both in animals and humans (Mellonig, 1991). In socket augmentation, FDBAs were used to minimize the resorption of ridge width after 5 months healing period for placement of implants (Wallace & Gellin, 2010). A recent study by Clark et al. (2018) conducted a study on socket augmentation using advanced PRF and FDBA in 40 patients and histologically compared the effectiveness after 15 weeks of healing. Authors reported increased bone mineral density ($551 \pm 58 \text{ mg/cm}^3$) in the FDBA grafted sockets compared to non-grafted sockets ($487 \pm 64 \text{ mg/cm}^3$).

2.5.2.2 Demineralized Freeze-Dried Bone Allografts (DFDBAs)

Freeze dried bone allografts can be demineralized in cold temperature. It is ground into small particles, sieved and is then diluted in hydrochloric acid. Hydrochloric acid exposes its bone matrix components. It is then finally freeze dried which known as demineralized freeze-dried bone allografts (DFDBAs). The bone matrix of DFDBAs is accompanied with collagen fibrils which has osteoinductive potential and has been termed as bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). These bone grafts have shown osteoconductive as well as osteoinductive properties due to the release of BMPs during the demineralization process (Lang & Lindhe, 2015).

DFDBAs are well known due to its highly osteogenic potential. It has a rapid tendency to resorb followed by new bone regeneration. A study by Bansal and Bharti (2013) compared the effectiveness of DFDBAs alone or in combination with platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) in periodontal intra-bony defects. In this study of 10 patients after 6 months of surgery, it was concluded that DFDBAs in combination with PRF demonstrated more reduction of probing depth and gain of clinical attachment level in comparison to using DFDBAs alone in the treatment of intrabony defects. In socket augmentation procedures, DFDBAs have shown remarkable effects. Wang and Tsao (2008) performed a pilot study on socket augmentation. Their study comprised of 5 patients in which mineralized allografts were followed by placement of bioabsorbable collagen membrane over the sockets as a wound dressing. After 5-6 months of healing, low level of remaining graft particles was observed histologically and showed newly formed bone. In a study by Wood and Mealey (2012) on socket augmentation using FDBA and DFDBA, they histologically compared the effectiveness after 19 weeks of extraction. Authors reported the greater percentage of vital bone in the sockets grafted with DFDBAs (38.42%), compared to the sockets grafted with FDBA (24.63%). Moreover, the study showed less remnants of graft particles for DFDBAs (8.88%) compared to FDBAs (25.42%). Furthermore, the sockets grafted with DFDBAs had significantly shown greater new bone formation. Another study using combination of PRF-DFDBAs as an interventional group versus DFDBAs alone as a control group in socket augmentation procedure reported less resorption in ridge width in the PRF-DFDBAs group. However, no statistically significant difference was found in resorption of ridge height between the two groups (Thakkar et al., 2016).

2.5.3 Xenografts

Xenografts are graft biomaterials of animal origin (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). The bone source for xenografts, which is commonly used in clinical practice are from various source such as, bovine (cow), porcine (pig) or equine (horse) origin. In 1889, xenografts were first reported as a bone grafting material in aseptic bone cavities (Senn, 1889). These graft materials were deproteinized in order to completely remove the organic component and thus avoid any immunogenic reaction. This low heat and chemical process preserves the original architecture and the inorganic mineral composition (Sheikh et al., 2013). Xenografts possess osteoconductive properties and are biocompatible to human recipients. The trabecular architecture with interconnecting pores in xenografts allows for optimal in-growth of new vascularity and osteoconduction (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). It can act as a lattice or framework for cell growth, allowing osteoblast from the wound margin to infiltrate the defect and to migrate across the graft. This brings a population of osteoblasts into the graft site.

2.5.3.1 Bovine derived xenografts

Clinically applicable xenografts are mostly derived from bovine (cow) origin. Commercially available xenografts, such as BioOss® (Geistlich Pharma AB, Wolhusen, Switzerland) is the most widely used graft material (Barone et al., 2013; Tomasi et al., 2018). It is considered to be an osteoconductive, porous mineral of bone matrix which is derived from cortical or cancellous bone. In BioOss®, porosity and trabecular anatomy is maintained but the organic components are removed for successful results. They also have some osteogenic potential as their physical features allow stabilization of clot and revascularization which may enhance and allow migration of osteoblasts (McAllister & Haghighat, 2007).

Cardaropoli et al. (2012) conducted a clinical study to augment extraction sockets by using bovine bone mineral (BioOss®) followed by collagen membrane. Authors reported significantly less resorption of horizontal ridge width in BioOss® group $(1.04 \pm 1.08 \text{ mm})$ compared to non-grafted sites $(4.48 \pm 0.65 \text{ mm})$. Additionally, resorption in ridge height was 0.46 ± 0.46 mm and 1.54 ± 0.33 mm in BioOss® group and non-grafted sites respectively at 4 months of healing. Moreover, grafted sockets have shown different levels of bone maturation and bone formation without any inflammatory response ultimately minimized the amount of vertical and horizontal resorption of alveolar bone. Barone et al. (2013) conducted a study on the augmentation of 62 human extraction sockets by using two commercially available bovine bone xenografts, Endobon® (test) and BioOss® (control). At 6 months of healing, the two treatment groups were similar in histologic outcomes, supporting the efficacy of bovine bone xenograft for socket augmentation when subsequent implant placement is required. A study by Xuan et al. (2014) compared the constructive effects in sinus bone grafting between platelet-rich fibrin mixed with BioOss® and commercial fibrin (Tisseel®) mixed with BioOss® on animal canine sinus models. The results of this study concluded that PRF-mixed BioOss®, grafted particles were mostly surrounded by a layer of newly formed bone and connective tissues.

A recent study was conducted by Serrano Mendez et al. (2017) to compare the healing by applying allografts and xenografts for extraction socket augmentation. Ten patients received demineralized freeze-dried cortical bone allograft and ten patients received deproteinized cancellous bovine bone xenograft. On histological analysis after 6 months of extraction, new bone formation was higher ($35.3 \pm 16.8\%$) at the xenograft sites when compared with allograft augmented sites ($25.5 \pm 10.1\%$). MinerOss[®] is another commercially available biocompatible porous bovine derived bone mineral for use in periodontal, oral and maxillofacial surgery. MinerOss[®] is a natural, porous bone mineral matrix, produced by removal of all organic components from bovine bone. It is available in cancellous and cortical forms. Potres et al. (2016), recently conducted an animal study to evaluate the effectiveness of PRF and MinerOss[®] in vertical bone regeneration and wound healing with immediate implant placement by performing histologic analysis. The authors concluded the enhancement of vertical bone augmentation and healing when a combination of PRF-MinerOss[®] was used. In another recent study by Guarnieri et al. (2017) reported lower vertical and horizontal bone changes after 3 months, when using MinerOss[®] and collagen membrane in extraction socket augmentation in 20 patients as compared to untreated sites of 10 patients.

2.5.3.2 Equine derived bone graft material

Equine derived bone graft is considered to be a new grafting material extracted from the long bone of horse. Nevins et al. (2012) evaluated the effects of equine derived bone graft by combining with human platelet derived growth factor for regeneration of intrabony periodontal defects. After 3 months, animals were sacrificed, and clinical and histologic analysis was performed. The results revealed higher amount of newly formed bones (Nevins et al., 2012). Another study by Park et al. (2010) was performed to preserve extraction socket using equine derived bone mineral. After 6 months of healing, clinical and histological analysis was obtained on total 4 patients. Through osteoconductive activities of this grafting material, new bone formation with maintained ridge dimensions were observed in this study.

2.5.3.3 Coral derived materials

There are two different types of coral derived materials used: natural coral material (calcium carbonate) and synthetic coralline hydroxyapatite. Both of these materials are

biocompatible. Coralline calcium carbonate induces bone formation without requiring surface transformation to carbonate. Due to its biocompatibility, safety and osteoconduction potentials, it is used as an alternative biomaterial of bone in clinical applications (Sheikh et al., 2015). Coralline hydroxyapatite has been used as a carrier system for delivery of growth factors to increase osteointegration in peri-implant osseous tissue (Damien & Revell, 2003). Coral derived materials were associated with a pronounced gain in periodontal defect fill, gain in clinical attachment and reduced probing depths during periodontal regeneration applications (Sheikh et al., 2015).

2.5.4 Alloplasts

Alloplasts are synthetic bone substitutes that involve different combinations of calcium phosphates. These substitutes are fabricated under different sintering conditions to yield different physical properties and resorption rates (Lang & Lindhe, 2015). Alloplastic bone grafts have lower morbidity rates affiliated with the augmentation procedure and facilitates bone regeneration techniques (Mayer et al., 2016). They are mainly osteoconductive and are relatively safe and cost effective. The major advantage of alloplasts is their abundant availability relative to the other graft materials. Alloplastic bone grafts are not osteoinductive in itself, but in the presence of periosteum or bone, they carry osteoinductive growth factors and osteogenic cell populations and almost become osteogenic (Guarnieri et al., 2004).

2.5.4.1 Calcium Phosphate

Calcium phosphate compounds have been utilized for bone augmentation due to their high solubility and physiological pH. These compounds support partial osteogenesis as they result in the generation of fibro-vascular tissue and woven bone. Kesmas et al. (2010) assessed effectiveness of calcium phosphate and collagen membrane in socket augmentation procedure. In 8 patients with labial wall defect, calcium phosphate was placed in the socket followed by resorbable collagen membrane. After 4 months of healing, radiographical and histologic analysis revealed the presence of osteoblast-like cells and new bone formation which minimized the alveolar ridge resorption.

Tricalcium phosphate (TCP) is considered to be a porous form of calcium phosphate biomaterial with good tissue compatibility. TCP is divided into two crystallographic forms, alpha-TCP and beta-TCP. β -TCP is commonly used in clinical practice (Sheikh et al., 2013). Due to the porous nature of tricalcium phosphate, it enhances the stabilization of clot during the healing phase. An animal study assessed the effectiveness of porous β -TCP in bone augmentation procedure (Yang et al., 2015). Histologically, faster bone growth, uniform distribution, maturity and activity of mandibular bone was observed and concluded that β -TCP scaffolds showed beneficial results to promote bone augmentation and volume. Mayer et al. (2016) employed combination of β -TCP and biphasic calcium phosphate (BCS) for their test group compared to non-grafted control in socket augmentation procedure. Authors reported remarkable reduction in horizontal width in the control group whereas β -TCP with BCS group resulted greater stability in horizontal dimensions after 4 months. Das et al. (2016) determined the effectiveness of β -TCP with collagen membrane as a control group while only PRF was used as a test group in socket augmentation procedure. No significant difference was found and both groups showed similar results to preserve extraction sockets.

2.5.4.2 Bioactive glasses

Bioactives are defined as materials that sustain specific surface reactions when achieving contact with tissue fluids after implantation into a body, leading to genesis of hydroxyapatite layer which is responsible for osteoblast attraction and formation of bonds with soft and hard tissues, ultimately resulting in new bone formation. They are composed of sodium oxide (24.5%), silicon dioxide (45%), phosphorus pentoxide (6%) and calcium

oxide (24.5%). Bioactive glass has shown better prognosis in the treatment of periodontal intrabony defects in terms of increased clinical attachment level and decreased probing depth, mobility and gingival index (Grover et al., 2013). Successful results using bioactive glass and autogenous cortical bone was also observed for the treatment of intrabony periodontal defects whereby increased alveolar bone height and reduced periodontal pocket depths after 6 months was reported (Sumer et al., 2013).

2.5.4.3 Calcium Sulfate

Calcium sulfate (CS) has been utilized as a graft material in dentistry and orthopedics for more than 100 years (Toloue et al., 2012). It is largely available with low cost and has the ability to be sterilized. It is considered as a biodegradable and osteoconductive graft material that may enhance osteogenesis. CS has been shown to construct an osteoconductive lattice or framework that activates bone ingrowth within the defect (Strocchi et al., 2002). The addition of CS to graft materials appears to accelerate the rate of vital bone formation. Walsh et al. (2003) deliberated that the degradation of CS creates a localized fall in pH, which causes demineralization of adjacent socket walls thus, releasing growth factors such as platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) 2 and 7.

CS can be considered a valuable option in periodontal regeneration. Pandit et al. (2015) reported a study using CS in the treatment of intrabony defects on 45 sites having moderate to advanced periodontitis. At 6 months and 12 months postoperatively, clinical and radiographic evaluation showed the enhanced gain in clinical attachment level (CAL). In the reduction of intrabony defects and in sinus augmentation procedures, CS appeared to be an effective bone graft (Leonardis & Pecora, 2000; Orsini et al., 2001).

The most commonly used form of CS for extraction socket augmentation and bone regeneration is medical grade calcium sulfate hemihydrate (MGCSH). Bagoff et al.

(2013) reported the effectiveness of MGCSH alone and with combination of other allografts such as mineralized irradiated cancellous bone allograft (MICBA) for the regeneration of alveolar bone in the extraction socket and sinus. After 4 months, the grafted sites showed keratinized soft tissue formation and after 6 months, thin cortical plate with densely formed trabecular bone was observed. The study also reported that the MGCSH can improve handling characteristics and graft particle containment of particle-based bone grafts. MGCSH is a cost-effective option, prevents soft tissue ingrowth and can assist in bone regeneration (Bagoff et al., 2013).

Guarnieri et al. (2005) conducted a study on 10 patients to evaluate the influence of MGCSH on histo-pathological pattern of intra-socket regenerated bone. Authors reported that after 3 months, no MGCSH was present and completely resorbed at the grafted site. Moreover, there was no difference between the coronal, medial and apical areas and new bone formation with lamellar arrangements was recognized. In another study by Aimetti et al. (2009), socket augmentation was performed using CS in a test group and no graft in the control group. In addition, after 3 months of healing, histologic analysis was performed and showed greater trabecular bone and increased lamellar bone in the sockets grafted with CS.

Kutkut et al. (2012) have performed an extraction socket augmentation study using combination of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) with CS and they assessed the ridge clinically and histologically following augmentation. These sites showed rapid bone healing and greater vital bone after 3 months of extraction socket augmentation. Cheah et al. (2014) have conducted a comparative study using a combination of PRP with CS versus CS alone for socket augmentation. Furthermore, at 4 months of healing, sockets grafted with PRP-CS showed higher mineralized bone content as compared to CS group.

2.6 Growth regulatory factors

Growth factors are responsible to speed up the regeneration of soft and hard tissues (Yun et al., 2012). Moreover, they are present in all tissues and are recognized to empower cellular growth, migration, proliferation and differentiation. They are mostly stored in extracellular matrix, but they are released on injury and contribute in the process of bone rebuilding. During bone rebuilding process, bone marrow stromal cells, fibroblasts, osteoblasts, endothelial cells and inflammatory cells trigger growth factors (Yun et al., 2012). Several studies have shown that the recombinant growth factors have been proven beneficial for bone regeneration (Bowler & Dym, 2015; Sanz-Sanchez et al., 2015). However, the use of such growth factors suffer from two major limitations such as, high cost, and supra-physiologic doses (Kobayashi et al., 2016). Thus, to overcome these limitations of recombinant growth factors, recent studies have shown the robustness and several significant pros of using the autologous growth factors in bone regeneration (Del Fabbro et al., 2014). From the last decade, two popular autologous growth factors have been reported beneficial for bone regeneration namely, platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) (Cheah et al., 2014; Dohan et al., 2006; Marx et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 2018). Thus, this section discusses the details of PRP and PRF in the light of recent literature and their usage in dentistry.

2.6.1 Platelet-rich plasma

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) belongs to autologous growth factors. It is extracted from patient blood centrifuged to obtain natural concentrations (Del Corso et al., 2012; Simonpieri et al., 2012). It was announced as "fibrin glue" in 1970 and gained recognition in medicine and dentistry for bone regeneration (Kobayashi et al., 2016). Several periodontists and oral surgeons utilized PRP for bone regeneration and have reported its benefits in variety of dental regenerative procedures (Marx, 2004; Marx et al., 1998; Panda et al., 2016). Moreover, several studies have reported that PRP can also be

combined with numerous other bone grafting materials such as calcium sulfate, betatricalcium phosphate to show better results in bone regeneration (Cheah et al., 2014; Kutkut et al., 2012; Ozdemir & Okte, 2012). However, its limitation is that it comprises of anticoagulants that intervenes with the process of natural healing process despite having various growth factors for bone regeneration (Del Corso et al., 2012; Simonpieri et al., 2012). Therefore, to overcome this drawback of PRP, researchers initiated the research investigation on a platelet concentrate created from blood without utilization of coagulants to improve bone regeneration (Choukroun. et al., 2006; Dohan. et al., 2006a, 2006b). The result of such research investigation is platelet-rich fibrin (PRF). It involves the utilization of a fibrin clot that may be used as a membrane comprised of autologous growth factors for bone regeneration (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010). The further detail of PRF is discussed in Section 2.6.2.

2.6.2 Platelet-rich fibrin

Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) is considered as an autogenous biomaterial and classified as a second-generation platelet derivative of platelet concentrates. In oral and maxillofacial surgery, Joseph Choukroun from France with his associates were the innovators for utilizing PRF protocol to enhance bone healings for further prosthesis or implant placement (Gupta et al., 2011). The PRF protocol is quite simple as; collection of blood sample without anticoagulants in 10ml tubes and then immediately centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes (Dohan. et al., 2006a). This results in a formation of three layers with the upper layer being acellular plasma, the middle layer is the fibrin clot and the bottom layer is red blood cells (RBCs) (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010). Later on, the middle fibrin clot, charged with serum and platelets is separated and can be compressed to form PRF membrane and plug (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010).

It also acts like an osteoinductive and osteoconductive graft materials (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010). PRF matrix associated with bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) possesses hemostatic, angiotrophic and osseous conductive properties and are able to induce bone (Choukroun et al., 2006). It consists of leukocyte, platelet rich fibrin biomaterials, many growth factors; platelet derived growth factors (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), living cells and platelet cytokines. There is no risk of disease transmission. Since the PRF is acquired from autologous blood sample in low quantities therefore only little volume of PRF can be used.

Several studies concluded that PRF is promising in reducing dimensional changes and limiting alveolar bone resorption mainly due to its innate bioactive capacity as it favors tissue regeneration (Anwandter et al., 2016; Castro et al., 2017a, 2017b; Temmerman et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2018). Bansal and Bharti (2013) employed demineralized freeze-dried bone allograft (DFDBA) in group 1 (10 patients) and combination of PRF and DFDBA in group 2 (10 patients) in the treatment of periodontal intra-bony defects. At 6 months of healing, authors reported reduction in pocket depth of 4 mm and 3.1 mm for group 1 and for group 2 respectively. Moreover, clinical attachment gain was 2.3 mm for group 1 and 3.4 mm for group 2. The study concluded beneficial effects of combination of PRF and DFDBA compared to DFDBA alone. Gassling et al. (2013) carried out comparison of PRF with the generally used collagen membrane Bio-Gide[™] as a framework for seeding of human osteoblast cell for bone tissue engineering. The authors reported that the extracellular bone matrix with entrapped cytokines due to Bio-GideTM and polymerizing nature of PRF have a significant impact in angiogenesis that was found to be beneficial for tissue engineering. A study by Xuan et al. (2014) compared the constructive effects in sinus bone grafting between PRF mixed with BioOss® and commercial fibrin (Tisseel®) mixed with BioOss® on animal canine sinus models. After 6 months of healing, authors evaluated the new bone formation rate was $41.8 \pm 5.9\%$ and $31.3 \pm 6.4\%$ in the PRF-BioOss® composite sites and Tisseel®-BioOss® composite sites respectively. In addition, the osseointegration rate was $43.5 \pm 12.4\%$ in the PRF-BioOss® composite sites and $30.7 \pm 7.9\%$ in the Tisseel®-BioOss® composite sites. The study findings suggested the combination of PRF and BioOss® for bone regeneration in maxillary sinus. Recently, Miron et al. (2017) conducted a systematic review utilizing PRF for soft tissue regeneration, augmentation and wound healing. The results of the review highlighted the positive effects of using PRF for various soft tissue defect management in the field of medicine and dentistry.

2.6.2.1 Comparison of PRF with other platelet concentrates

Platelet concentrates are generally classified as Platelet-rich plasma (PRP), Plasmarich in growth factors (PRGF) (Anitua, 2001) and Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) classified on the principles of Platelet-rich preparations (Dohan et al., 2006). Platelet-rich preparations enhance and accelerate healing at initial time points to diminish discomfort and possibilities of adverse outcomes, including poor wound closure, infection and delays in the process of bone formation for subsequent procedures (implant) (Davis et al., 2014). Dohan Ehrenfest et al. (2009) reported technological classification of platelet preparations based on fibrin density, content of leukocyte and standardization degree of the procedure as ; pure platelet-rich plasma (P-PRP), such as Vivostat PRF or Anitua's PRGF, cell separator PRP; leukocyte and platelet-rich plasma (L-PRP), such as Curasan, Regen, Plateltex, SmartPReP etc; pure platelet-rich fibrin (P-PRF), such as Fibrinet; and leukocyte and platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF), such as Choukroun's PRF. Nevertheless, PRF has high density of fibrin clot, supporting cell migration, cytokine release and can serve as a biological healing matrix developing the range of its potential applications prominently (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009). Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) is unique with other platelet concentrates as it contains no anti-coagulants. For the preparation of PRP and PRGF, biochemical blood handling is essential while for PRF no handling is required and also clotting achieved in PRF is completely physiologic. In addition, in a study by Dohan Ehrenfest et al. (2009), it was reported that in P-PRP and L-PRP preparations, the network of fibrin is immature and comprises of small diameter fibrillae because of simple polymerization. This immature small diameter fibrin network is supportive for platelet application during surgery, however it dissolves quickly. Conversely, in P-PRF and L-PRF, fibrin network is mature and thick because of multiple fibre assembly which create a resistant matrix. In PRP, release of growth factors are immediate at very time points whereas in PRF, growth factors and Thrombospondin-1 are released slowly, more than 7 days due to its stable growth factor released from PRF (Dohan et al., 2009). Therefore, PRF encourages its environment for a considerable duration during its remodelling.

Growth factors play a predominant role in wound healing. These growth factors are only released by platelet concentrates once clotting has completed. In PRF, platelets and leukocytes growth factors are richly embedded. Moreover, for attaining a clot with enhanced platelets, immediate fibrin polymerization and increased number of growth factors, it was suggested to avoid anticoagulants (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009; Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). The most common growth factors present in fibrin clots are; fibroblast growth factors (FGF), platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF), insulin like growth factors (IGF), transforming growth factors beta-1 (TGF β -1), bone morphogenetic proteins 2 (BMP-2) and vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF).

Leukocytes are richly trapped in fibrin matrix and have a key anti-infectious role in surgical platelet concentrates as an immune regulation and for direct action. PRF has shown to have highest leukocytes counts (50%) as compared to PRP (0-50%) and PRGF

(0%). Leukocytes, besides its anti-infectious role, also produces large amounts of growth factors such as, TGF β -1 and VEGF which stimulate the healing process and also promote angiogenesis (Dohan et al., 2009). When the VEGF or TGF β -1 level becomes very low, leukocytes produced new molecules to maintain the growth factors. Moreover, leukocytes present in the PRF can cause gradual release of cytokines (Dohan et al., 2009). In most of the protocols for platelet concentrate preparations, platelets are richly activated and there is no pronounced fibrin matrix to assist cell migration and growth factor release. However, in Choukroun's PRF, leukocytes and growth factors are massively activated and released over the 7 days after application on the surgical site (Dohan et al., 2009). With these properties of PRF, it could be a useful healing biomaterial with antihemorrhagic agent on clinical applications.

A centrifuge is a device in which a small amount of blood is inserted and rotated at high speed on a circular path to separate plasma, fibrin, and red blood cells from blood (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). This device usually operates on a certain centrifugation protocols such as, speed of centrifugation, vibrations of centrifuges, vibration shocks in the acceleration phase and resonance of vibrations (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). The speed refers to the rotator speed of the centrifuge and it is usually measured in revolutions per minute (RPM). The vibration of centrifuges refers to the repetitive variations on an equilibrium point of centrifuge device. The vibration shock of the centrifuge device refers to a sudden acceleration which creates an impulse on centrifuge device. The vibration resonance is a condition of the centrifuge device in which an object is subjected to repetitive variating force having a frequency close to its own natural frequency.

Aforementioned parameters make a difference in the cell content, weight, volume and fibrin architecture of PRF. For instance, when the speed of centrifugation is low, it produces more vibrations and exceeds the resonance threshold limit of 1. This increased

resonance threshold causes difficulty in separation of blood, as there is damage and destruction of the cell content (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). Indeed, it was proven by Dohan Ehrenfest et al. (2017) that leukocytes rich platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF) produced from 9 ml of blood by using Intraspin centrifugation machine possess clots and membranes with heavy weights, dense architectures and large sizes whereas the second best PRF produced was prepared using 1500 rpm speed from 10 ml of blood, which is almost identical to the current study protocol. Moreover, the study proposed that increase in time duration and greater g force for centrifugation usually provides more time for fibrin clot polymerization. An adequate fibrin clot polymerization triggers slow and prolonged delivery of growth factors to the application sites. The centrifugation time was not needed to last longer than 12 minutes (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017).

2.6.2.2 Benefits of PRF

Naik et al. (2013) in a review study, described the advantages of using PRF in wound healing as;

- 1. Absence of biochemical handling of blood.
- 2. Use of anticoagulants and bovine thrombin are not required.
- 3. Easy, less time consuming and cost-effective process of PRF preparation
- Advantageous healing due to slow polymerization of PRF over a period of 10 days due to its cytokines and growth factors.
- Immediate centrifugation of blood in PRF preparation further minimizes activation of coagulation cascade.
- More effective cell proliferation and migration because of the fibrous structure of PRF which retains a greater number of growth factors and cytokines in three dimensional fibrin scaffold.
- 7. PRF has more efficacy on immune system because of its leukocyte content.

8. PRF assists in hemostasis.

2.7 Radiographic assessment

Radiographic assessment of alveolar bone is important for appropriate presurgical treatment planning. Specific indications, radiation dose and magnification rate are to be considered when determining the type of radiographic modality (Amarnath et al., 2015). Various radiographic techniques can be used to evaluate the alveolar ridge dimensional changes after extraction or prior to implant placements. Previously, alveolar ridge dimensional changes were measured clinically by taking photographs, study models and tracings drawn according to the study casts (Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967). Radio-opaque pastes were applied on the palate to measure the radiographic dimensional changes 2 weeks after extraction to avoid errors caused by soft tissue changes (Johnson, 1969). Apart from periapical, panoramic and cephalometric radiographs, cone beam computerized tomography (CBCT) images were also used to ensure accurate measurements (Araújo & Lindhe, 2005; Tyndall & Brooks, 2000).

The imaging modality for radiographic assessment should possesses the following characteristics (Frederiksen, 1995);

- 1. It should give cross-sectional views of both dental arches for visualizations of alveolar process and dimensional relationship of anatomic structures.
- 2. Image plane of a technique must be flat for precise measurements.
- 3. Images should permit the assessment of cortical bone density (bone quality) and trabecular bone.
- 4. The distortion should be minimized. Image contrast and brightness should be at an optimal level and free from artifacts.
- 5. If more than one technique is used, it should be financially affordable to patients.

2.8 Radiographic methods

The common radiographic methods that were employed in implant dentistry are discussed in subsequent sections.

2.8.1 Intraoral radiography

Intraoral radiograph is easily available, inexpensive, well tolerated by patients and generates high resolution images. These images possess excellent dimension and contrast resolution with less distortions. The images taking with film-holding devices permit segmental visualizations of anteroposterior bounds, vertical of remaining alveolar ridges and locations of adjacent anatomical structures (Tyndall et al., 2012). Therefore, it is most commonly used as a first line radiograph for implant site evaluation. However, it has a few drawbacks such as, distortions of images and absence of cross-sectional information (Sewerin, 1990).

2.8.2 Panoramic radiography

Panoramic radiographs are considered as a good standard of care for pre-operative analysis and for long-term assessment of implant success (Tyndall & Brooks, 2000). The advantages include low cost, easy availability and many anatomic features can be visualized on one image. The disadvantages of panoramic radiographs are the possibility of positioning errors, absence of cross-sectional information and non-uniform horizontal magnification (Tyndall & Brooks, 2000). Moreover, the images are horizontally distorted in relation to its vertical plane where the lingual structures are not properly positioned in the focal through superiorly projected in comparison to its actual location. Panoramic radiographs produce inherent magnification distortion of 20%-30%. In addition, longitudinal evaluations are not possible using these machines due to the difficulty in reproducing original patient position (Tyndall & Brooks, 2000).

2.8.3 Cone beam computed tomography (CBCT)

The term "cone beam" refers to conical form of beam. The x-ray source and detector move synchronously in a circular path around the vertical axis of the patient's head. Cone beam machines were first commercially introduced as New Tom DVT 9000 (QR srl, Verona, Italy) in Europe in 1999. This system scans the patient in supine position. Previously larger units were used which was replaced by smaller units with better scanner quality to fit in dental office (Amarnath et al., 2015).

CBCT images are used in implant therapy as well as complex endodontic and orthodontic cases. The 3D high resolution images are very useful in assessing various pathologic and abnormal conditions of the maxillofacial region (Miracle & Mukherji, 2009). CBCT is recommended when panoramic radiographs fail to provide adequate information for the bucco-lingually located structures of the maxilla (Amarnath et al., 2015). The volumetric datasets of CBCT can be transferred in DICOM (Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine) format (Tyndall et al., 2012). The cross sectional and 3D images creation, simulated implant placement and computer-guided surgeries can be performed using a third-party software. Volumetric datasets give additional information for more refined analysis and broadened treatment planning options for achieving adequate prosthetic results (Tyndall et al., 2012). The additional costs of CBCT compared with panoramic techniques are higher. However, the utilization of CBCT is still limited in comparison to panoramic radiograph.

2.8.4 Materialise's Interactive Medical Image Control System (MIMICS)

MIMICS (Materialise Interactive Medical Image Control System) (Belgian company Materialize NV) is a 3D image analysis software that can use to reconstruct and remodel DICOM images from different imaging modalities such as; CBCT, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), micro-CT and medical computed tomography (CT). MIMICS with the help of "Image segmentation module" calculates the volume and creates 3D models by stacking 2D image data. This software produces images in XZ (coronal) and YZ (sagittal) direction. Region of interest (ROI) can be segmented and converted into a 3D surface model (Al-Maqtari et al., 2014). An accurate 3D surface model can be created in stereolithography (STL) format using 'adaptive marching cubes' algorithm.

MIMICS software allows a direct link of the 3D models with computer-aided design (CAD), rapid prototyping (RP) and computer aided engineering (CAE) for surgical simulation and advanced engineering analysis. These analysis are useful for assessment and treatment planning for maxillofacial surgery, neurosurgery, craniofacial surgery and orthopedics research (Mavili et al., 2007).

MIMICS software is reliable in determining volume and densities of newly regenerated bone. The software has successfully assessed the density, volume and dimensions of the grafts (Yavuz et al., 2009) and distribution of stress on the peri-implant bone (Martini et al., 2013). The simulation of sinus floor augmentation including symphysis bone graft was successfully performed using the software (Buyukkurt et al., 2010). In addition, the accuracy of this software in reconstructing 3D models has been described for volumetric evaluation (Li et al., 2013).

MIMICS has been used in many previous studies. For instance, Pang et al. (2014) performed a study of socket augmentation procedure in 30 patients. After 3 and 6 months of socket augmentation, bone volume, ridge width and height were analyzed by using MIMICS software. Recently, Saruhan and Ertas (2018) conducted a study for the alveolar cleft treatment using corticocancellous iliac bone graft and platelet-rich fibrin. The author calculated the alveolar cleft volume by using MIMICS software preoperatively and 6 months postoperatively.

MIMICS has been used as an evolutionary software in the assessment of alveolar ridge dimensional changes. Aimetti et al. (2018) performed extraction sockets augmentation after randomly allocated 30 patients into test (bovine derived bone) and control (natural healing) groups. The volume of bone has been calculated using MIMICS software at baseline and at 12 months post-extraction. Manavella et al. (2018) have also performed sockets augmentation in 11 patients using bovine derived xenografts with collagen membrane. Through MIMICS software, volumetric changes of sockets were analyzed at baseline and at 12 months post-extraction.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Introduction

This study design was a randomized clinical trial. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur [DF RD 1621/0076(L)]. An information sheet explaining the nature of the study, available in both English and Bahasa Malaysia was given to each patient. Additionally, the details of the study as well as the procedures involved were explained verbally in either English or Bahasa Malaysia. Written consent was then obtained from all the patients who agreed to participate in this study. All patients were recruited from the outpatient department and oral and maxillofacial surgery department.

3.2 Sample selection

The patients who fulfilled the following criteria were included in the study. Inclusion criteria for the patients were;

- 1. Maxillary premolar teeth with neighbouring mesial and distal sound/restored teeth.
- 2. Alveolar bone level (measured from periapical radiographs) more than 50% of the root length.
- 3. Age ranges from 25-55 years.

Exclusion criteria for these patients were;

- 1. Bony fenestration of the socket wall confirmed from CBCT scan.
- 2. Acute signs of infection.
- 3. Periodontally compromised teeth.
- 4. Absence of buccal plates.

- 5. Any systemic disease which will hinder the healing process e.g., diabetes, hypertension, bleeding disorders like thrombocytopenia, thalassemia, asthma, patients on long term steroids, osteoporosis.
- 6. Smokers.
- 7. Pregnant and lactating women.
- 8. History of malignancy or radiotherapy and chemotherapy.

3.2.1 Sample size calculation

The sample size for this study was calculated using *t* tests of means difference between two independent groups, based on a power of 80% and a detectable difference between the two comparative groups of 0.05. Additionally, the mean differences for socket depth were 13.73 mm and 9.50 mm with standard deviations of 3.00 and 3.08 respectively (Das et al., 2016). The sample size was calculated as 20 subjects (10 subjects in each group). All the patients were randomly allocated to either PRF-CS (test) or PRF-xenograft (MinerOss® X syringe, Bio Horizons, Alabama, United States) (PRF-X) (control) group using coin-toss method (Section 5.1 explains the reasons of using this method).

3.3 Pre-extraction preparation

A day before extraction, clinical photographs and impressions of the jaw were performed. An acrylic stent (A) for each patient was prepared using light cure material (Figure 3.1 a). It was designed to include the teeth on the mesial and distal to the tooth scheduled for extraction. Three holes which were situated 3mm below the cervical margin were prepared on the buccal aspect of the tooth, while 1 hole was prepared on the mid palatal aspect, 3mm below the cervical margin. The holes were prepared using 1mm fissure bur and filled with gutta-percha as shown in Figure 3.1 a.

Stent A was then placed over the planned extraction site. A cone beam computerized tomography (CBCT) scan was performed using Kodak 9000C® (Carestream, United

States) software. The selected scanning parameters were 70 kV; 10 mA; voxel size = 76 μ m; acquisition time = 10.8s. The gutta-percha filled holes in the stent (Figure 3.6), served as fixed reference points to help identify the same CBCT slice for measurement at baseline and 5 months post-extraction. The parameters measured from the CBCT scan at baseline were mesial bone height (M_BH), distal bone height (D_BH), socket bone height (SH), buccal bone height (B_BH), palatal bone height (P_BH), horizontal bone width (W) and volume of bone.

To measure the soft tissue profile, another occlusal acrylic stent (stent B) (Figure 3.1 b) was fabricated using light cure acrylic. It was designed to include the teeth on mesial and distal aspects of the tooth scheduled for extraction. The material covered only half of the crown height. Three grooves were prepared on mesial, mid and distal on the buccal aspect of the tooth scheduled for extraction. One groove was prepared on the mid-palatal aspect. These grooves served as fixed points for the periodontal probe (546/1 Williams periodontal probe, QS® dental supply, Malaysia) when measurements were completed at baseline and 5 months post-extraction as shown in Figure 3.1 (b). The parameters measured for clinical measurements were mesial soft tissue height (M_SH), distal soft tissue height (D_SH), buccal soft tissue height (B_SH), and palatal soft tissue height (P_SH).



Figure 3.1: Pre-extraction preparation. An acrylic template for CBCT scan (stent A) (a) and an occlusal acrylic stent with demarcations (stent B) (b).

3.4 Extraction procedures

The same operator treated all patients under the supervision of his supervisors. The preparation of PRF, extraction socket augmentation and follow up visits were performed in the postgraduate periodontology clinic, University of Malaya.

3.4.1 Procurement of PRF

The protocol for platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) preparation was established by Choukroun in 2001 in France. After the provision of patients' written informed consent, 20ml of venous blood was collected using winged infusion set from cubital vein in two sterile vacutainer tubes (10ml in each tube), prior to tooth extraction. The test tubes were devoid of any anticoagulants. The venous blood was quickly spun in the centrifugation machine at 1300 revolutions per minute (rpm) for 8 minutes (Figure 3.2) and kept separate for 3-5 minutes. After the completion of centrifugation, the tube consisted of three layers; red blood cells (RBCs) at the bottom layer, the middle layer of fresh fibrin clot and the straw colored acellular plasma at the upper layer (Figure 3.3 a). The fibrin clot was picked up using a tweezer while a pair of sterile scissors was used to separate the RBCs layer (Figure 3.3 b and Figure 3.3 c). Finally, the fibrin clot was placed in the PRF box (PRF processing, Nice, France) and was compressed lightly for 15 seconds under low pressure. The remaining acellular plasma went down at the lower part of the PRF box due to the pressure over it. The fibrin clot from first tube was compressed to form the PRF membrane whereas the fibrin clot from second tube was compressed to form the PRF plug (Figure 3.3 d). Once prepared, the PRF membrane was cut into small pieces and was mixed with either CS or xenograft (Figure 3.3 e). CS powder was prepared prior to the day of extraction. Zero point three nine (0.39) grams of CS powder (Asia Plaster company limited, Bangkok, Thailand) was measured using Sartorius Cubis® Analytical Balances system (Sartorius AG Göttingen, Germany) and placed into autoclave pouches for

sterilization in a vacuum autoclave (Little Sister SES 225B Vacuum Autoclave, Eschmann® West Sussex, United Kingdom).



Figure 3.2 Centrifugation machine for the preparation of PRF



Figure 3.3: Procurement of PRF. After centrifugation three layers of blood (a), separation of fibrin clot (b), fibrin clot (c), prepared PRF membrane (left) and PRF plug (right) (d) and cutting PRF membrane into small pieces to mix with graft (e).

3.4.2 Surgical technique

After administering local anesthesia utilizing 2% lignocaine with 1:100,000 concentration of epinephrine, atraumatic tooth extraction was achieved. Periotome (Hu-Friedy® Manufacturing, Co., Chicago, United States) was used to detach the periodontal fiber appendage followed by using premolar extraction forceps (#35A, 12.035.01Z, B. Braun Aesculap®, United States). Great care was taken to maintain the buccal plate. Next the extraction socket was carefully curetted and was washed with normal saline as shown in Figure 3.4 (a).

In the control group, xenograft (MinerOss®X, BioHorizons®, United States) (size 250-1000µ, 0.5cc) was mixed with PRF membrane pieces and placed inside the socket.

In the test group, calcium sulfate (CS) was mixed with PRF membrane pieces and placed inside the socket. The graft materials were placed up to the level of crest of the extraction socket. After that the socket was covered with the PRF plug. Simple interrupted sutures (black silk 4-0, Ethilon® Mersilk, Cornelia, Georgia) were applied on the mesial, middle and distal areas as shown in Figure 3.4 (b).

An antibiotic, Amoxicillin 500mg (capsule) every 8 hours for 5 days and an analgesic, Paracetamol 1g (tablet) every 8 hours for 3 days were then prescribed. The patients were advised to rinse with 0.12% chlorhexidine mouth rinse twice daily for a week. Patients were recalled after a week for suture removal followed by another recall 5 months postextraction (Figure 3.4 c).

At the 5 months post-extraction review, CBCT scans were performed with stent A to assess the area for planning of implant placement. Dimensions of the healed socket were recorded as shown in Figure 3.5 (b) and in Figure 3.6 (b). Impressions were taken to prepare stone (study) models and the soft tissue profile change was then measured by using stent B. All the parameters previously mentioned were measured and recorded on CBCT and the cast models.



Figure 3.4: The premolar socket after atraumatic extraction (a), the socket with PRF-CS graft materials followed by PRF plug over the socket (b) and the socket area at 5 months post-extraction (c).

3.4.3 Measurements of M_BH, D_BH and SH

Mesial bone height (M_BH), distal bone height (D_BH) and socket height (SH) were analyzed using KODAK 9000C®, Carestream imaging 7.0 software. A panoramic view was created using curved slicing method. An auxiliary line (X1) was drawn in relation to the cemento-enamel junctions of the adjacent teeth and three perpendicular lines (M, D and S) were drawn to measure the M_BH , D_BH and SH as shown in Figure 3.5 (a) and (b).

- 1. M_BH: distance measured from the auxiliary line to the mesial bone crest.
- 2. D_BH: distance measured from the auxiliary line to distal bone crest.
- 3. SH: distance measured from the auxiliary line to the apex of the scheduled extracted tooth.



Figure 3.5: Measurements of M_BH, D_BH and SH. All lines were drawn on the panoramic view at baseline (a) and at 5 months post-extraction (b).

M_BH
D_BH
SH

3.4.4 Measurements of B_BH, P_BH and W

Buccal bone height (B_BH), palatal bone height (P_BH) and horizontal bone width (W) measurements were performed by drawing an auxiliary line (X2) from the lower border of hard palate on a coronal view. Two perpendicular lines (B and P) were drawn to measure the B_BH and P_BH . Second auxiliary line (X3) was drawn from the upper edges of the stent to measure the W as shown in Figure 3.6 (a) and (b).

- 1. B_BH: distance measured from the first auxiliary line to the buccal bone crest.
- 2. P_BH: distance measured from the first auxiliary line to palatal bone crest.
- 3. W: distance measured bucco-palatally on the second auxiliary line.



Figure 3.6: Measurements of B_BH, P_BH and W. All lines were drawn on the coronal view at baseline (a) and at 5 months post-extraction (b).

B_BH
P_BH
W

3.4.5 Bone volumetric assessment

MIMICS® software (Materialise NV, Belgium, version 16.0) was used for the analysis of bone volume at baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. The CBCT images were exported in the image analysis software in DICOM format. Greyscale threshold values (1250-4025) were set to create a new mask of the region of interest (ROI). The ROI selection was made using axial, coronal and sagittal slice which covers one tooth mesial and one tooth distal to the socket. For the axial slice, the top selected slice was 1-3 mm above the apical ends and the most bottom axial slice was at the cemento-enamel junctions level (Figure 3.7). The ROI was then segmented using the selected threshold value as shown in Figure 3.8 a.

Additionally, a multiple slice editing technique was manually performed to separate bone from the surrounding structures (Figure 3.8 b). The final 3-D model of the ROI was generated to allow the volumetric assessment of the resorbed bone. To assess the bone resorption, the baseline model (Figure 3.9 a) and 5 months post-extraction model (Figure 3.9 b) were superimposed (Figure 3.9 c). Dimensional changes were also assessed in axial view at different levels to demonstrate the collapse of bone ridge as shown in

Figure 3.10. The measurements were performed by one observer and repeated after 2 weeks.


Figure 3.7: Region of interest (ROI) on coronal (a) and axial (b) views.



Figure 3.8: 3-dimensional images of region of interest (ROI) at baseline. (a) ROI with bone (yellow) and teeth (sea green), (b) the ROI after segmentation of the teeth in MIMICS software.



Figure 3.9: Segmentation and superimposition of the ROIs. (a) 3D image of bone at baseline (yellow), (b) at 5 months post-extraction (dark orange) and (c) superimposition of bone at baseline and 5 months.

5 months



Figure 3.10: Superimposed images were on axial slice of bone at baseline (yellow) and at 5 months (dark orange). Coronal part (a), coronal 1/3rd of the ridge (b), coronal 2/3rd of the ridge (c), middle of the ridge (d) and apical region of the ridge (e, f).

3.4.6 Soft tissue level assessment

At the 5 months post-extraction review, study casts models were prepared again and with the same acrylic stent B and periodontal probe, soft tissue levels were measured (Figure 3.1 b). The parameters were mesial soft tissue height (M_sH), distal soft tissue height (D_sH), buccal soft tissue height (B_sH) and palatal soft tissue height (P_sH).

3.5 Flow chart of the methodology

The complete flowchart of methodology is shown in Figure 3.11.





3.5.1 Reproducibility study

For any clinical trial or experiment reliability, validity and responsiveness at acceptable levels are the essential factors to make it clinically meaningful. Within a study population, standardization with decreased inherent variability is necessary to be achieved.

All the assessments were obtained by the same examiner (author) in this study. The three experienced research supervisors provided the didactic training to the examiner throughout the research. To achieve the standardization process, specific and complete details for methods of assessment and measurements of parameters were explained. The methods and location points for measurement recordings were calibrated during this study.

Because of the involvement of only one examiner in the study, intra-examiner reliability was fulfilled to validate the ability of the examiner. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) analysis was used to persistently reproduce quantitative results of the measurements of parameters under uniform experimental conditions. Intra-examiner reproducibility (R) was achieved by performing assessment on initial 4 patients. CBCT images were imported into the KODAK 9000® and MIMICS (version 16.0) software.

The assessments on CBCT images and MIMICS software were performed on two different time intervals with a gap of three to four hours and finally the mean reading value for the day was recorded. The same process was repeated on the second week and thus two readings were compared for intra-examiner reliability. The analysis was performed using IBM, SPSS Statistics version 22.

3.5.2 Outcomes of the reproducibility study

The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) analysis with 95% confidence interval was used to describe the output of the reproducibility study. In addition, absolute agreement analysis type was employed to calculate the ICC values. The detailed methodology for study reproducibility is discussed in Section 3.5.1. Table 3.5.1 shows the study reproducibility results including ICC values and upper and lower bound range values using 95% confidence interval. As shown in Table 3.5.1, the vertical alveolar ridge assessments including the MBH (R=0.947), DBH (R=0.954), SH (R=0.936), BBH

(R=0.972), and PBH (R=0.952) are highly correlated. Moreover, the horizontal ridge width assessment (R=0.962) and volumetric assessment (0.931) are also highly correlated. The results demonstrated that the value of reproducibility of the study were excellent (R > 0.9).

D	Intra-class correlation	95% confidence interval		
Parameters	coefficient (ICC)	Lower bound	Upper bound	
M_BH	0.947	0.739	0.988	
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{H}$	0.954	0.845	0.988	
SH	0.936	0.915	0.994	
$\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{H}$	0.972	0.870	0.993	
P_BH	0.952	0.872	0.988	
\mathbf{W}	0.962	0.879	0.991	
Volume	0.931	0.915	0.987	

Fable 3.5.1:	Output	of the	reproducibili	ty stud	v
			1	•	•

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 Demographic characteristics of subjects

Error! Reference source not found. shows the demographic background of the s ubjects in this study. From the PRF-X group, one subject was dropped out due to dry socket. The remaining 10 subjects were treated and completed the 5 months re-evaluation period. The 10 sockets were augmented with PRF-CS (n=5) and with PRF-X (n=5). The age ranges of the subjects were from 25 to 55 years. The mean age was as 38.00 ± 10.05 years old for PRF-CS group and 38.60 ± 8.82 years old for PRF-X group. For PRF-CS group, 3 right upper first premolars, 1 right upper second premolar and 1 left upper first premolars, 2 right upper second premolars and 1 right upper first premolar teeth were extracted.

	PRF-CS (n=5 %)	PRF-X (n=5 %)
GENDER Male	1 (20)	2 (40)
Female	4 (80)	3 (60)
ETHINICITY		
Malay	3 (60)	3 (60)
Chinese	1 (20)	-
Indian	1 (20)	2 (40)
AGE GROUP		
25-40	2 (40)	3 (60)
40-55	3 (60)	2 (40)

Table 4.1.1 Demographic characteristics of subjects augmented with PRF-CS or PRF-X

4.2 Radiographic assessment of bone level at baseline and at 5 months postextraction

The radiographic measurements of bone levels for the PRF-CS group and PRF-X group were completed at baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. Mean and standard

deviations were recorded to demonstrate average bone resorption and percentage of changes (PoC). The PoC were used to calculate the percentage of difference in mean values from baseline to 5 months within and between groups.

4.2.1 Comparison of mesial bone height (M_BH) within and between groups

Comparison of the mesial bone height (M_BH) from baseline to 5 months postextraction within each group showed in Table 4.2.1. When comparisons were made by using mean and standard deviations, statistically significant difference was observed within the PRF-CS (p=0.008*) group as well as PRF-X (p=0.013*) group. This indicates that the mesial bone height was significantly reduced at 5 months post-extraction for both groups. The percentage of changes (PoC) in the PRF-X (8.48%) group were closely 3 times lower than that of the PRF-CS (19.58%) group between baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. However, statistically there was no significant difference observed between the two groups (p=0.064).

Table 4.2.1 Changes in mesial bone height (M_BH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

MBH	Baseline Mean + SD	5 months Mean + SD	Diffe Changes.%	erence Mean + SD	p value*
		1.100.11 = 0.2	011411800,70	1.100m = 5.2	
PRF-CS	2.86 ± 0.90	3.42 ± 0.70	-19.58	0.56 ± 0.25	0.008*
PRF-X	3.30 ± 0.58	3.58 ± 0.44	-8.48	0.28 ± 0.14	0.013*
p value*	0		0.064		

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

* Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.

** Independent samples *t* test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.2 Comparison of distal bone height (D_BH) within and between groups

As shown in Table 4.2.2, the changes in distal bone height (D_BH) was statistically significant difference at 5 months post-extraction within the PRF-CS (p=0.015*) group but not in the PRF-X (p=0.094) group. This shows that there was significant reduction of the distal bone height in PRF-CS group while the reduction in the PRF-X group was not significant. The percentage of changes (PoC) of distal bone height (D_BH) for the PRF-CS

(13%) group was 0.58% more than the PoC for PRF-X (12.42%) group. No statistically significant difference was observed between the two groups (p=0.725).

D _B H	Baseline	5 months Difference			
	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	Changes,%	Mean \pm SD	<i>p</i> value*
PRF-CS	2.78 ± 0.68	3.14 ± 0.68	-13	0.36 ± 0.19	0.015*
PRF-X	3.54 ± 0.88	4.00 ± 0.72	-12.42	0.44 ± 0.45	0.094
p value*			0.725		7

Table 4.2.2 Changes in distal bone height (D_BH) from baseline to 5 months postextraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

* Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.

** Independent samples t test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.3 Comparison of bone socket height (SH) within and between groups

Table 4.2.3 shows that there was a significant difference in bone socket height (SH) within the PRF-CS (p<0.001*) group as well as PRF-X (p<0.001*) group. This indicates that there was a significant bony in-fill from baseline of the study to 5 months post-extraction for both groups. The percentage of changes (PoC) for socket height (SH), in the PRF-X (69.0%) group were 1-2% lower than that of the PRF-CS (70.85%) group at 5 months post-extraction. There was no significant difference found when comparison was made between the two groups (p=0.497).

 Table 4.2.3 Changes in bone socket height (SH) from baseline to 5 months postextraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

SH	Baseline	5 months	Difference Changes % Mean + SD		p value*
	Ivitean ± 5D	Weall ± 5D	Changes, %	Mean ± 5D	
PRF-CS	13.38 ± 0.93	3.90 ± 0.80	70.85	$\textbf{-9.48} \pm 0.40$	< 0.001*
PRF-X	13.06 ± 1.04	4.06 ± 0.91	69.0	-9.00 ± 1.45	< 0.001*
<i>p</i> value*			0.497		

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

- * Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.
- ** Independent samples t test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.4 Comparison of buccal bone height (B_BH) within and between groups

Table 4.2.4 shows a comparison of buccal bone height (B_BH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within each group. There were statistically significant difference in B_BH when measured after 5 months within the PRF-CS (p=0.016*) group and in the PRF-X (p=0.022*) group. This indicates that the buccal bone height was significantly reduced at 5 months post-extraction for both groups. Buccal bone height (B_BH), percentage of changes (PoC) in the PRF-X (7.26%) were 3 times lower than that of the PRF-CS (18.87%) between baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. Although, no statistical significant difference was observed between the two groups (p=0.056).

Table 4.2.4 Changes in buccal bone height (B_BH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

B _B H	Baseline 5 months		Diffe	erence	*
	Mean \pm SD	Mean ± SD	Changes,%	$Mean \pm SD$	<i>p</i> value*
PRF-CS	8.57 ± 2.61	6.95 ± 2.82	-18.87	$\textbf{-1.62} \pm 0.91$	0.016*
PRF-X	8.65 ± 2.18	8.02 ± 2.28	-7.26	-0.63 ± 0.39	0.022*
p value*			0.056		

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

* Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.

** Independent samples *t* test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.5 Comparison of palatal bone height (P_BH) within and between groups

As shown in Table 4.2.5, the palatal bone height (P_BH) was significantly different when measured at baseline and at 5 months post-extraction within the PRF-CS ($p=0.023^*$) group but not in the PRF-X (p=0.065) group. This indicates that the reduction of palatal bone height was significant in PRF-CS group whereas the reduction in the PRF-X was not significant. On comparison between the two groups, percentage of changes (PoC) for palatal bone height (P_BH) in the PRF-X (4.33%) were 3 times lower than that of the PRF-CS (15.66%) between baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. However, both the groups showed no statistical significant difference (p=0.059).

P _B H	Baseline	5 months Difference			
	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	Changes,%	$Mean \pm SD$	<i>p</i> value
PRF-CS	8.86 ± 1.80	7.47 ± 2.22	-15.66	$\textbf{-1.39}\pm0.87$	0.023*
PRF-X	8.86 ± 2.50	8.48 ± 2.41	-4.33	-0.39 ± 0.34	0.065
p value*			0.059		

Table 4.2.5 Changes in palatal bone height (P_BH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

* Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.

** Independent samples t test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.6 Comparison of horizontal bone width (W) within and between groups

Table 4.2.6 shows that there was a significant difference in horizontal bone width (W) within the PRF-CS (p=0.026*) group as well as in the PRF-X (p=0.021*) group. This demonstrates that the horizontal bone width was significantly reduced from baseline of the study to 5 months post-extraction for PRF-CS and PRF-X group. For horizontal bone width (W), percentage of changes (PoC) in PRF-X group was 14.84% while PRF-CS group was 12.2%. No significant difference was found between the groups (p=0.803).

W	Baseline	5 months Difference			
	$Mean \pm SD$	Mean \pm SD	Changes,%	$Mean \pm SD$	<i>p</i> value ^{**}
PRF-CS	10.39 ± 1.22	9.13 ± 1.50	-12.2	-1.27 ± 0.82	0.026*
PRF-X	9.46 ± 1.20	8.05 ± 1.65	-14.84	-1.40 ± 0.85	0.021*
<i>p</i> value*			0.803		

 Table 4.2.6 Changes in horizontal bone width (W) from baseline to 5 months

 post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

* Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.

** Independent samples t test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.2.7 Comparison of volume of bone within and between groups

As shown in Table 4.2.7, there was statistically significant difference within the PRF-CS (p=0.004*) group as well as in the PRF-X (p=0.002*) group. This indicates that there was a significant decrease in bone volume from baseline to 5 months post-extraction for both the PRF-CS and PRF-X groups. As for the volume of bone, percentage of changes (PoC) for PRF-X (7.74%) was 3-4 % less in comparison to the volume for PRF-CS (11.43%) group. Comparison between the groups showed no significant difference (p=0.087).

Table 4.2.7 Changes in volume of bone from baseline to 5 months postextraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

X 7 - I	Baseline	5 months	Dif	р	
volume	Mean \pm SD	Mean ± SD	Changes,%	Mean \pm SD	value*
		X			
PRF-CS	1472.89 ± 410.16	1304.56 ± 415.64	-11.43	168.33 ± 63.68	0.004*
PRF-X	1328.46 ± 298.97	1225.58 ± 293.11	-7.74	102.88 ± 32.93	0.002*
p value*		0.0	87		

Significance level was set at 0.05.

Mean values are in millimeter.

- * Paired samples *t* test was used to compare changes within group.
- ** Independent samples t test was used to compare changes between groups.

4.3 Clinical assessment of soft tissue level at baseline and at 5 months postextraction

The clinical measurements of soft tissue levels for the PRF-CS and PRF-X were performed on cast models at baseline and at 5 months post-extraction. Mean with standard deviations were calculated to report the percentage of change (PoC). Though, due to the altered distribution of soft tissue resorption at every site, median values with interquartile range were also reported. The PoC were used to calculate the % of difference in mean values from baseline to 5 months within groups and to compare between both groups.

4.3.1 Comparison of mesial soft tissue height (MsH) within and between groups

As shown in Table 4.3.1, when comparisons were made between the medians at baseline and at 5 months post-extraction within each group, statistically significant difference was observed within the PRF-CS ($p=0.025^*$) group as well as PRF-X ($p=0.025^*$) group. This indicates that the mesial soft tissue height (M_SH) was significantly reduced after 5 months for PRF-CS and PRF-X groups. In the PRF-CS group, percentage of changes (PoC) between the two time intervals, in the mesial soft tissue height (M_SH) (26.31%), was 2-3% more than the M_SH (23.80%) for the PRF-X group. No significant difference noted between the groups (p=1.000).

Table 4.3.1 Changes in mesial soft tissue height (MsH) from baseline to 5 months post-extrction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

M _S H	Baseline	Baseline 5 months		Difference		
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Changes,%	Median (IQR)	<i>p</i> value	
PRF-CS	3.00 (2.00)	4.00 (2.00)	-26.31	1.00 (0.75)	0.025*	
PRF-X	4.00 (0.50)	5.00 (0.50)	-23.80	1.00 (0.75)	0.025*	
p value*			1.000			

Significance level was set at 0.05.

IQR, interquartile range.

* Non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for within (Intragroup) comparison.

** Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for between (Intergroup) comparisons.

4.3.2 Comparison of distal soft tissue height (DsH) within and between groups

Comparison of the distal soft tissue height (D_SH) from baseline to 5 months postextraction within each group and between the groups was shown in Table 4.3.2. The D_SH was significantly different after 5 months in PRF-X (p=0.034*) group but not in the PRF-CS (p=0.083) group. This showed significant reduction in distal soft tissue height of PRF-X group while the reduction in the PRF-CS group was not significant. For distal soft tissue height (D_SH), the percentage of changes (PoC) for PRF-X (28.57%) are nearly two times more than the PRF-CS (15%). Nonetheless, comparison between the groups showed no significant difference (p=0.222).

DsH	Baseline	aseline 5 months Difference			
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Changes,%	Median (IQR)	<i>p</i> value*
PRF-CS	3.00 (2.50)	4.00 (1.50)	-15.0	1.00 (1.00)	0.083
PRF-X	4.00 (1.50)	5.00 (1.00)	-28.57	1.00 (0.50)	0.034*
<i>n</i> value*			0.222		

Table 4.3.2 Changes in distal soft tissue height (DsH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

Significance level was set at 0.05.

IQR, interquartile range.

* Non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for within (Intragroup) comparison.

** Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for between (Intergroup) comparisons.

4.3.3 Comparison of buccal soft tissue height (BsH) within and between groups

A comparison of buccal soft tissue height (B_sH) from baseline to 5 months postextraction within each group and between both the groups was shown in

Table 4.3.3. There was no significant difference within the PRF-CS (p=0.066) group as well as PRF-X (p=0.059) group. This indicates that the soft tissue height at the buccal region was not significantly changed from baseline to 5 months post-extraction for both groups. In the PRF-CS group, the percentage of changes (PoC) for B_sH (34.78%), was 12% more than the B_sH (23.07%) for the PRF-X group. No significant difference was found on comparison between the groups (p=0.548).

BsH	Baseline	5 months Median (IQR)	Difference		n voluo*		
	Median (IQR)		Changes,%	Median (IQR)	<i>p</i> value		
PRF-CS	4.00 (2.50)	6.00 (0.50)	34.78	2.00 (2.00)	0.066		
PRF-X	6.00 (2.00)	6.00 (1.00)	23.07	1.00 (1.50)	0.059		
<i>p</i> value*	0.548						

 Table 4.3.3 Changes in buccal soft tissue height (BsH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

Significance level was set at 0.05.

IQR, interquartile range.

* Non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for within (Intragroup) comparison.

** Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for between (Intergroup) comparisons.

4.3.4 Comparison of palatal soft tissue height (PsH) within and between groups

Table 4.3.4 showed a comparison of palatal soft tissue height (P_SH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the groups. No statistically significant difference was found within the PRF-CS (p=0.083) group as well as PRF-X (p=0.059) group. This indicates that the soft tissue height of the palatal region was not significantly changed from baseline to 5 months post-extraction for both groups. The palatal soft tissue height (P_SH) is reduced 28% in PRF-X group, closely equal in comparison to that of PRF-CS group (27.27%). In addition, no significant difference was detected between both groups (p=0.841).

Table 4.3.4 Changes in palatal soft tissue height (PsH) from baseline to 5 months post-extraction within and between the PRF-CS and PRF-X group

PsH	Baseline Median (IQR)	5 months Median (IQR)	Dif Changes,%	ference Median (IQR)	p value*
PRF-CS	4.00 (3.00)	6.00 (1.00)	27.27	2.00 (2.00)	0.083
PRF-X	5.00 (2.00)	6.00 (2.00)	27.95	2.00 (1.50)	0.059
<i>p</i> value*			0.841		

Significance level was set at 0.05.

IQR, interquartile range.

- * Non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for within (Intragroup) comparison.
- ** Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for between (Intergroup) comparisons.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 Study design and subject recruitment

This randomized clinical trial was designed to evaluate and compare the effects of platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) with calcium sulfate (CS) as a test group or PRF with xenograft (X) as a control group in; (1) reducing horizontal alveolar bone resorption, (2) reducing vertical alveolar bone resorption, (3) soft tissue level changes and (4) volumetric changes in extraction socket augmentation procedure.

In clinical trials, a control group is necessary to validate that an intervention is exceptional, cost effective, or affiliated with less complications in comparison to conventional practice. Several studies reported that conventional practices of tooth extraction where no grafting material was used in the control group, often results in more bone resorption (Barone et al., 2008; Barone et al., 2012; Eshghpour et al., 2014; Hauser et al., 2013; Iasella et al., 2003; Lekovic et al., 1998). Weijden. et al. (2009) reported in a review that the amount of alveolar ridge width loss is about 3 to 4mm and alveolar ridge height loss is about 1.5 to 2 mm after 3-7 months of tooth extraction. Tan et al. (2012) performed a systematic review on post-extraction alveolar hard tissue dimensional changes in humans. This review reported that horizontal bone loss of 29-63% and vertical bone loss of 11-12% after 6 months of tooth extraction where no grafting material was used. When compared to non-grafted controls, there was about 1-2 mm less ridge height reduction and 1.5-2 mm less ridge width reduction when using a bone replacements graft (Avila-Ortiz et al., 2014; Iocca et al., 2017). Therefore, to overcome such resorption consequences, the extraction sockets were augmented through various grafting materials. Since it has already been established that leaving a socket non-grafted would result in more bone loss than a grafted site, thus in the current study, the control group was not left ungrafted.

For control group, PRF-X was used as a grafting material because several recent studies have reported that PRF-X showed less bone resorption compared to natural healing, and other grafting materials such as, PRF, CS or xenograft alone (Barone et al., 2015; Kalash et al., 2017). For instance, Barone et al. (2015) employed PRF-X in extraction sockets in 33 patients and reported the effective results for bone regeneration and increased soft tissue level. Kalash et al. (2017) conducted a study of immediate implants placement in fresh extraction sockets of 18 patients. In addition, the peri-implant gap was filled using combination of advanced-PRF (A-PRF) and xenograft compared to using xenograft alone and assessed their effectiveness in probing depth, marginal bone height and bone density. Authors reported that the combination of PRF and xenograft (2.89 mm) at 6 months. Moreover, the combination of PRF and xenograft (1.79 mm) at 9 months.

For the test group, the combination of PRF and CS was employed. Intini et al. (2002) reported that the precipitation of CS causes an exothermic reaction which activates the platelets present within the platelet concentrates. In addition, CS can be a potential carrier for platelet derived growth factor (PDGF). Finally, it may enhance the osseous tissue regeneration by increasing cell proliferation and supporting cell growth.

Several existing studies employed the combination of PRP (previous generation of PRF) and CS and reported the effectiveness of their combination in test group. For instance, Kutkut et al. (2012) have performed a study using the combination of PRP-CS in socket augmentation and histologically found the presence of 100% living, well-mineralized trabecular bone, rapid bone healing enhancement and greater vital bone after 3 months. Cheah et al. (2014) have also reported that the sockets augmented with PRP-CS showed higher mineralized bone content as compared to CS alone.

Hauser. et al. (2013) conducted a randomized clinical study of 23 patients and evaluated the effectiveness of PRF in socket augmentation procedure. Moreover, authors reported that the PRF is an autogenous biomaterial of blood origin and it does not leave any residual particles in the augmented sites. In addition, the effectiveness of PRF for the improvement of the microarchitecture and intrinsic bone tissue quality of the healing socket after 2 months was reported. Additionally, more effective cell proliferation and migration using PRF have been reported because of its fibrous structure and PRF retains a greater number of growth factors and cytokines in three-dimensional fibrin scaffold (Naik et al., 2013). Henceforth, in the current study, it was hypothesized that the combination of PRF-CS may produce better results in socket augmentation compared to PRP-CS.

In this study, randomization was performed by using coin-toss method. This method is widely employed in human clinical trials (Iasella et al., 2003). Additionally, it avoids selection bias (Calasans-Maia et al., 2014). Similarly, previous studies used randomization into treatment and control groups to evaluate the effectiveness of their interventions (Clark et al., 2018; Fiorellini et al., 2005). Carrying out randomization in relatively small sample size may be problematic as it may result in an imbalanced number of participants among groups (Suresh, 2011). However, in this study, since the sample size was small we were unable to assess if the subjects were equally distributed.

Sample size can affect the outcome of a study and the strength of the conclusion (Faber & Fonseca, 2014; Kumar, 2014). In the current study, sample size was calculated as 20 subjects (10 subjects per group). However, because of the difficulty in acquiring suitable number of patients that fulfilled the criteria and lack of time availability, the number of subjects recruited was initially 11. The underlying choice of generally low-risk patients with strict criteria can remove the influence of specific confounding factors of any study

and can provide a study model with a reduced variability. Furthermore, extraction sockets, presented with fenestrations or trauma after extraction had to be excluded from the study. One of the patients was dropped out due to the development of infection within first week of socket augmentation. Thus, the sample size was reduced to10 (5 subjects per group).

Resorption pattern can be influenced by site of extraction, different arches and number of teeth extracted (Al-Hamoudi et al., 2015; Araujo et al., 2015; Schropp et al., 2003). Buccal or labial plates have been reported to be thin in the maxilla which leads to alveolar bone resorption being much faster than in the palatal plates (Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967) (Tomasi et al., 2010). In this study, single tooth extraction was performed only at maxillary premolar region to ensure homogeneity to minimize bias. Similarly, a recent study has also reported to only consider maxillary teeth for socket augmentation (Hassan et al., 2017).

5.2 Surgical procedure

The reasons for tooth extraction were advanced caries lesions, endodontic treatment failures and root fractures. A minimally traumatic procedure for tooth extraction without raising mucosal flap has appeared to be advantageous for the preservation of hard tissues and also promote the effects of grafting material after socket filling (Hauser et al., 2013). Even in a minimal full thickness flap, superficial layer of the exposed alveolar bone may possess osteoclastic activity and cause resorption of bone (Lekovic et al., 1997). Furthermore, flap elevation may increase the chances of gingival recession and this has been reported in a study by Fickl. et al. (2008a), where they have demonstrated 0.7 mm additional shrinkage of the coronal aspects on the buccal side compared with a non-flap procedure. Traumatic or vigorous extraction technique leads to distortion of socket walls resulting the most common post-operative complications of pain and foul smell termed as alveolar osteitis (dry socket) caused by complete or partial disintegration of blood clot

inside the socket (Tarakji et al., 2015). Therefore, in the current study, non-flap atraumatic extractions were performed. Following extraction, a thorough and gentle curettage of the sockets were achieved before graft placement (Froum et al., 2002) and to facilitate the bleeding inside the sockets for the initial stages of healing (Cardaropoli et al., 2003).

It was distinctly proven that the centrifugation protocols and centrifuge characteristics produce significant influence on cell functions, growth factors and the fibrin architecture (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). The speed of centrifugation, vibrations of centrifuges, vibration shocks in the acceleration phase and resonance of vibrations are the key parameters which may make a difference in the cell content, weight, volume and fibrin architecture of PRF (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). Thus, in this study, PRF was prepared according to the protocol described by Choukroun in 2001. Blood sample was taken and centrifuged at 1300 rpm for 8 minutes (using PRF Process, Nice France). For every patient, 20 ml of blood sample was taken in glass tubes. It was previously reported that the PRF membranes and clots production did not appear to be disturbed by the usage of glass-coated plastic tubes or glass tubes (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2010).

In the related literature, various platelet concentrate preparations have been produced by different preparatory protocols (such as, lab-based techniques, centrifugation, plasmapheresis) to form different materials with dissimilar biological and potential usage (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009). The time utilized to prepare platelet concentrate varies but is mostly completed in an hour. Previously, platelet concentrate (pure PRP) was manufactured using plasmapheresis in which cell separator was used either from a harvested blood bag with anticoagulants or from intermittent blood flow set up. This procedure obtained around 40 ml of PRP from 450 ml of blood (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009). Moreover, Anitua (1999) proposed platelet concentrate preparation with richly present growth factors (PRGF). The PRGF prepared by discarding acellular plasma from upper layer after centrifugation using several pipetting steps with eyeballing as a measuring tool and followed by addition of 10% calcium chloride for fibrin polymerization. In addition, leukocytes rich platelet-rich plasma (L-PRP) was manufactured using manual (Curasan method) and automated method (Platelet concentrate collection system). However, the leukocytes counts are very low along with the usage of separator gel and calcium chloride was used to activate platelets and fibrin polymerization. Unlike other platelet concentrates, Choukroun's PRF does not dissolve quickly after application and results in slow remodeling due to solid consistency of its fibrin matrix (Clark, 2001). Furthermore, leukocytes and platelets are collected with their potential efficacies and preserved throughout. Moreover, in PRF preparations, fibrin fibers are very thick because of the multiple fiber assembly that establish a resistant matrix which may be appraised as a fibrin biomaterial (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009). Another remarkable advantage in this method of PRF preparation are their low cost and significant ease of procedure that permits many concentrates production excluding the anticoagulants materials and within short spans of time. Therefore, in this study, the centrifugation protocol proposed by Choukroun in 2001 was used to prepare PRF instead of other lab-based techniques.

In the current study we were not able to assess the amount of growth factors present in the PRF used for our subjects. However previous studies have reported that the quantity of platelet concentrates are positively correlated to the release of growth factors (Eppley et al., 2004). In general, the activated platelets release growth factors that are capable of initiating and regulating the wound healing in hard and soft tissues. Eppley et al. (2004) performed a study on the quantification of platelet and growth factor analysis from platelet rich plasma (PRP). From 10 healthy patients, whole blood was drawn and concentrated into PRP. The author found that platelets were increased by approximately 8-fold in PRP compared to whole blood. The study concluded that the concentration of growth factors increases with increased number of platelets. However, growth factor concentration varied from individual to individual. The authors also found that 0.01ng of isoforms of PDGF-BB were released per 1 million of platelets. The author also reported that 6-ml of PRP sample contained approximately 9.6 x 109 platelets. Although PRP showed increased growth factors, several studies found that PRF modulates more growth factors compared to PRP (Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2017). Thus, in this study, PRF has been employed for socket augmentation.

The quality of PRF clot can be affected by age as increasing age interferes with the platelets and white blood cells (WBCs) and can alter the fibrin network pattern and architecture. Yajamanya et al. (2016) reported that there were variations in the number of platelets and WBCs along with dense and loose type of fibrin. In addition, it was also reported that the platelets and WBCs were reduced in terms of quality and quantity in older patients. As the age increases, i.e. from 20-50 years and above, fibrin network patterning becomes further loose and inconsistent in organization and fibrin becoming thinner with reduced entrapment of WBCs and platelets (Yajamanya et al., 2016). In the current study, 60 % subjects were between 40-55 years of age in the PRF-CS group and 60% of subjects were between 25-40 years of age in PRF-X group. Hence, there is a possibility that PRF dissolved early in the PRF-CS group and might cause more bone resorption when compared to PRF-X group.

To retard the resorption process and provide sufficient time for new osseous tissue replacement, placement of the graft in the extraction socket was achieved in layers (as stratification method) and densely packed up to the crestal level (Cheah et al., 2014; Thakkar et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2011). Usually, open extraction sockets can cause most of the bone graft loss. Hence, PRF membrane and plug was used to support and retain the bone graft material inside the socket walls (Thakkar et al., 2016). As PRF is a fibrin clot,

it stimulates the arrest of bleeding as well, thus reducing graft and wound stabilization. Following graft placement, 4-0 black silk sutures were placed across the opening of the socket. All efforts were made to avoid additional pressure and force from the suture application to preserve the gingival architecture. The socket was intentionally left exposed to the oral cavity and allowed to heal by secondary intention.

One subject developed dry socket within 1 week and was subsequently dropped out from the study. The patient was on oral contraceptive pills that caused increased estrogen levels which may have caused increased plasminogen fibrinolytic activity that digests fibrin clot and results in a dry socket (Catellani et al., 1980). All other extraction sites showed no infection or excessive inflammatory response and had uneventful healing.

5.3 Post-operative management

Post-operative complications such as pain, trismus and infections are the common sequalae after tooth extraction (Tong et al., 2014). In order to prevent the risks of post-operative infections, due to the placement of graft inside the socket, antibiotics (amoxicillin 500mg tds for 5 days) and mouth rinse (0.12% chlorhexidine twice daily for a week) were prescribed to all patients of both groups (Cheah et al., 2014). An analgesic, (paracetamol 1g) was prescribed to control post-operative pain (Anwandter et al., 2016). In all patients, no hypersensitivity reactions were observed.

5.4 Measurements and records

Numerous tools have been employed to assess the soft tissue alterations after socket augmentation such as, cast models and fabricated stents (Kutkut et al., 2012; Schropp et al., 2003). In existing literature, the most widely used tool is fabricated stent to serve as a fixed reference guide for vertical measurements (Iasella et al., 2003). Thus, this study also utilized fabricated stents for the soft tissue assessments.

Several image analysis tools have been used to minimize the diagnostic error and to improve the treatment planning in dentistry (Shah et al., 2014). Studies reported that cone beam computerized tomography (CBCT) minimizes the superimposition of the images and provides finest accuracy compared to orthopantomography (OPG). Moreover, it is recommended in pre-surgical planning of buccolingual locations of maxilla which cannot be obtained from OPG (Amarnath et al., 2015), and dentoalveolar regions in the precise measurement of bone dimensions and densities (Pauwels et al., 2012). Therefore, this study employed CBCT to assess hard tissue dimensional and volumetric alterations. CBCT scanning was performed before tooth extraction to assess the anatomy of the root of the tooth to be extracted and the surrounding bone support in 3 dimensions. In addition, in this present study, Kodak 9000C[®] (Carestream, United States) software is used to focus only at the implant site and to measure the bone volume and dimensions.

Recent studies argued that accurate volumetric assessments are essential after tooth extraction (Aimetti et al., 2018; Manavella et al., 2018; Pang et al., 2014). To achieve this, studies employed image analysis software such as, MIMICS (discussed in Section 2.8.4) as an evolutionary software for volumetric analysis of extraction sockets and alveolar bone (Aimetti et al., 2018; Manavella et al., 2018; Pang et al., 2014). Thus, in this study, volumetric analysis was performed using MIMICS software. This software has provided the benefit of altering the segmentation method and also has the capacity to perform volumetric examination in different dimensions (coronal, sagittal, axial and 3D). It also allows the examiner to include or exclude mask at the region of concern where it is unable to demarcate mechanically. Moreover, it also allows its users to scroll through the entire volume with simultaneous viewing in all planes (coronal, sagittal and axial).

5.5 Changes in horizontal dimensions

Systematic reviews on alveolar ridge dimensional changes following extraction in humans reported approximately 3.5 mm to 3.8 mm (29% to 63%) of ridge width reduction after tooth extraction (Tan et al., 2012; Van der Weijden et al., 2009; Vignoletti et al., 2012a). Thus, to limit the ridge width reduction, several studies employed grafting material and showed better results compared to natural healing in socket augmentation procedures. For instance, Zhang et al. (2018) employed PRF on test groups of 14 patients and employed no grafting material on 14 patients of control group. After 3 months of healing, the authors reported the width reduction of 1.0 ± 0.70 mm for the PRF group whereas 2.05 ± 0.77 mm for the non-grafted sites. Manavella et al. (2018) also conducted a study using xenograft in 11 patients for socket augmentation. They used CBCT and reported the mean width reduction of 1.37 ± 1.29 mm after 12 months of extraction. Aimetti et al. (2018) performed socket augmentation using xenograft and reported mean horizontal width reduction of 1.97 ± 1.55 mm for treated and 3.83 ± 1.49 mm for untreated sockets after 12 months of socket augmentation. Recently, Clark et al. (2018) reported 1.7±1.2 mm ridge width reduction when using the combination of A-PRF and FDBA in non-molar teeth of 10 patients.

In the present study, horizontal ridge width reduction from baseline to 5 months postextraction in the PRF-CS group was 12.2% (1.27 ± 0.82 mm) and 14.84% (1.40 ± 0.85 mm) for the PRF-X group. The difference in horizontal width reduction between the groups was however not significant. As can be seen here, the width reduction results of the current study are better than Manavella et al. (2018), Aimetti et al. (2018) and Clark et al. (2018). This might be due to the differences in either methodology or tools used for dimensional assessment or patients' follow up period (as discussed in Section 2.8.4). However, data from our present study showed more width reduction compared to Zhang et al. (2018). This disagreement maybe explained by the inclusion of maxillary and mandibular molars in their study because the amount and pattern of resorption are different in between maxilla and mandible and in between anterior and posterior teeth (Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967; Schropp et al., 2003). In addition, this may be due, somewhat to the types of tooth investigated. A systematic review on the effects of ridge preservation by Avila-Ortiz et al. (2014), reported a 1.89 mm clinical advantage on ridge width preservation when compared to tooth extraction alone. This result was based on 6 studies of non-molar tooth extraction. Another systematic review comprised of 9 studies, of which, 2 studies used molar tooth extraction (Vignoletti et al., 2012b). The review reported a 1.83 mm of clinical benefit on alveolar ridge width preservation when compared to extraction alone. Our data from the present study found less ridge width reduction for either the PRF-CS or the PRF-X group. On this ground, it can be suggested that for horizontal augmentation, PRF-CS is the material of choice.

5.6 Changes in vertical dimensions

Araújo and Lindhe (2005) concluded that more pronounced and most of the resorption takes place in the buccal region among all vertical parameters. The buccal plate is usually thinner and experiences a greater magnitude of resorption than the lingual plate. This causes more ridge resorption in a lingual and apical direction (Araujo & Lindhe, 2009; Lekovic et al., 1998). Systematic reviews on alveolar ridge dimensional changes following extraction in humans reported roughly 0.4 mm to 3.9 mm of ridge height reduction in naturally healed sockets (Ten Heggeler et al., 2011). Therefore, to reduce the alveolar ridge resorption magnitude, application of socket augmentation procedures using graft materials have been advocated. When compared to non-grafted controls, there was about 1-2 mm less ridge height reduction when using a bone replacement graft (Avila-Ortiz et al., 2014; Iocca et al., 2017). The present study showed three times more resorption for mesial bone height (M_BH), buccal bone height (B_BH) and palatal bone height (P_BH) in PRF-CS group compared to PRF-X group between the two time intervals (see Table 4.2.1, Table 4.2.4 and Table 4.2.5). Moreover, resorption for distal bone height (D_BH) and socket height (SH) in both the groups were nearly equal. Nonetheless, these differences in results for all vertical dimensions between the two groups were not statistically significant (p > 0.05). From our results, it is obvious that buccal bone significantly resorbed more than the palatal bone for both the PRF-CS and PRF-X groups.

Hauser, et al. (2013) reported mesial height resorption of 0.86 mm and distal height resorption of 2.15 mm using PRF in the socket augmentation procedure at 4 months postextraction. Barone et al. (2015) conducted a study using the combination of PRF with xenograft in the treatment of buccal bone defects, performed extractions in the anterior maxillary regions followed by implant placement after 5 months and 1 year follow up. For mesial 0.8 ± 0.1 mm and for distal aspect 0.7 ± 0.1 mm resorption was calculated. The present study using PRF-CS, demonstrated mesial bone height (M_BH) resorption of 0.56 mm and distal bone height (D_BH) resorption of 0.36 mm at 5 months post-extraction. As can be noticed, the aforementioned studies showed more bone resorption compared to our study. This maybe because of the surgical technique used with the flap elevation for socket augmentation in the study by Hauser. et al. (2013). Indeed, Fickl. et al. (2008b) reported more dimensional resorption where flap surgery was performed. Moreover, the difference in the results of Barone et al. (2015) study maybe because the authors used only anterior teeth extraction which have thin buccal walls. However, it was reported that the hard tissue resorption tend to be more prominent at regions where thin bone walls are present (Tomasi et al., 2010).

In a study, Barone et al. (2012) performed socket augmentation on 40 patients. Authors employed cortico-cancellous porcine bone on test group and control group was not grafted. The test group showed the resorption of 1.6 mm in buccal height and resorption of 1.8 mm in palatal height. Additionally, in control group the resorption in buccal height

was 0.7 mm more than that of test group and resorption in palatal height was 0.3 mm more than that of test group. In the current study using PRF-CS, buccal bone height resorption (1.62 mm) and palatal bone height resorption (1.39 mm) were less than the results reported in Barone et al. (2012). Clark et al. (2018) conducted a randomized controlled clinical trial of socket augmentation on 40 patients using advanced-PRF (A-PRF) and freeze dried bone allograft (FDBA). The authors found vertical height resorption of 1.8 mm for A-PRF group and 2.2 mm for FDBA group at 15 weeks of healing. Zhang et al. (2018) conducted a clinical trial of socket augmentation on 28 patients (14 patients for test group and 14 patients for control group). Authors employed PRF membrane in test group and no grafting material in control group. Using CBCT, the authors reported buccal bone resorption of 1.60 mm for test group and 2.80 mm for control group after 3 months of extraction. Moreover, the lingual bone resorption was reported as 1.0 mm and 2.05 mm for test and control groups, respectively. Our study demonstrated similar buccal bone resorption for PRF-CS (1.62 mm) group but slightly increased palatal bone resorption of (1.39 mm) when compared to Zhang et al. (2018). However, palatal bone reduction of PRF-CS group was significantly lesser than that of control group of the study by Zhang et al. (2018). This disagreement maybe explained by the inclusion of maxillary and mandibular molars because the amount and pattern of resorption are different in between maxilla and mandible and in between anterior and posterior teeth (Pietrokovski & Massler, 1967). Moreover, Barone et al. (2012) raised mucosal flaps for graft placement and it was reported earlier that soft tissue reflection in flap surgeries may enhance the magnitude of bone resorption and cause additional dimensional changes (Hauser. et al., 2013; Wood et al., 1972)

When compared to untreated controls, a systematic review Avila-Ortiz et al. (2014) on non-molar tooth extraction, reported effects of ridge preservation as 2.07 mm clinically on the buccal bone height and 1.18 mm clinically on the lingual/palatal bone height. Likewise, Vignoletti et al. (2012b) reported in a systematic review of 1.47 mm clinical benefit on alveolar ridge height preservation when compared to tooth extraction alone. The results from that review was based on 9 studies, out of which, only 2 studies included the molar teeth. Tan et al. (2012) conducted a systematic review on hard and soft tissues dimensional changes after socket augmentation. The author found vertical reduction (1.24 \pm 0.11 mm on buccal, 0.84 \pm 0.62 mm on mesial and 0.80 \pm 0.71 mm on distal sites) at 6 months of socket augmentation procedure.

5.7 Changes in soft tissue dimensions

Soft tissue resorption in inevitable after tooth extraction. However, the resorption in soft tissue levels can be minimized by taking suitable measures of socket augmentation. The effect of alveolar ridge preservation is well recognized in the literature. Nevertheless, there is lack of studies that report the changes of soft tissue level on clinical results. In the PRF-CS group, the percentage of resorption between the two time intervals, in the mesial soft tissues height (M_sH) and buccal soft tissue height (BSH), was nearly 2-12% more than the M_sH and B_sH for the PRF-X group (see Table 4.3.1 and

Table 4.3.3). However, for distal soft tissue height (D_SH), the percentage of resorption for PRF-X are nearly two times more than the D_SH for PRF-CS group (see Table 4.3.2). The resorption for palatal soft tissue height (P_SH) in PRF-CS group was marginally lower than the PRF-X group (see Table 4.3.4). However, in both the groups, no statistical significant difference was observed (p>0.05).

Duggan (2001) performed socket augmentation to analyze soft tissue level on cast models. Authors employed fabricated acrylic stents to measure vertical and horizontal dimensions of ridge clinically and radiographically. Freeze-dried mineralized human bone allograft was utilized to preserve the sockets in 19 patients whereas control group comprises of 5 patients received no graft. At 3-4 months of extraction, using cast models changes in mesial soft tissue height of 0.30 mm and distal soft tissue height of 0.65 mm were evaluated. Cardaropoli et al. (2012) performed extraction socket augmentation using bovine bone mineral and collagen membrane (test) and extraction alone (control) on 48 posterior teeth (41 patients). At 4 months of extraction, evaluation on cast models showed changes in buccal and lingual soft tissue height of 0.46 mm for test group and 1.54 mm for control group, respectively. The present study reported slight dissimilar range of buccal and palatal soft tissue changes of 2 mm for PRF-CS group at 5 months post-extraction. The difference in the aforementioned studies maybe because of the usage of mostly molar teeth of both the maxilla and mandible. It was reported previously that the percentage of reduction varies in between maxilla and mandible and in between premolar and molar regions (Schropp et al., 2003).

One of the short comings of the present study was that the gingival biotype was not recorded. Gingival tissue biotype is a crucial factor that dictates the outcome of dental treatment. The thickness of gingival tissue and bone affects the stability of osseous crest and soft tissue (Abraham et al., 2014). Gingivae can be categorized as "thick flat" and "thin scalloped" biotypes (Abraham et al., 2014). Thick gingival tissue comprises of broad zone of keratinized tissue with flat gingival tissue contour characteristic of thick bony architecture while thin scalloped biotype consists of narrow band of the keratinized tissue with scalloped gingival contour and thin bony structure. Extraction of tooth in thick biotypes result in less ridge atrophy, whereas surgical or traumatic extractions may cause fracture of the buccal/labial plates and excessive alveolar ridge resorption in thin bony plates (Abraham et al., 2014). In Asians, the gingival biotype has been reported to be of thin type (Lee et al., 2013). There is a possibility that the amount of bone resorption noted in the present study could have been influenced by the different gingival biotype.

5.8 Volumetric analysis

Recent studies argue that accurate volumetric assessments are essential for the accurate and reliable measurements of extraction sockets (Aimetti et al., 2018; Manavella et al., 2018; Pang et al., 2014). The percentage of changes for volume in the PRF-X (7.74%) group are slightly decreased about 3-4% in comparison to the volume for PRF-CS (11.43%) group. The bone volumetric reduction ranged from 1472.89 mm3 to 1304.56 mm3 for the PRF-CS group and bone volumetric reduction for the PRF-X ranged from 1328.46 mm3 to 1225.58 mm3 from baseline to 5 months post-extraction, showing a decrease in volume for the PRF-CS group but statistically, no significant difference was observed in between both groups (p>0.05). It has already been demonstrated that the volume of bone, especially after extraction plays a crucial role in the placement of implant. Pang et al. (2014) conducted a study to preserve alveolar ridge using deproteinized bovine bone graft and collagen membrane. After 6 months, they found the volume of preserved sites had resorbed 262.06 mm3 while the untreated sites resorbed by 342.32 mm3, it showed that the bone volume changes in the trial group was lower than the control group. No percent changes in alveolar bone volume were reported. This indicates that bone fill can be improved by socket augmentation. The current study showed a slightly lower changes in bone volume for the PRF-X (102.88 mm3) group when compared to the PRF-CS (168.33 mm3) group. Variance in the method used to determine the region of interest may explain the differences in numeric volumetric changes. In the present study, bone volume was calculated covering the 3 teeth whereas Pang et al. (2014) used only the extraction socket for bone volumetric analysis. Nevertheless, the condition of the extraction socket was not explained in their study and the amount of the volumetric changes maybe due to the loss of the buccal plate of alveolar bone. When the buccal plate is absent, the extraction socket most often fills with fibrous reparative tissues, which usually leads to a reduced net bone volume (Darby et al., 2009).

Manavella et al. (2018) utilized CBCT scans and MIMICS software to analyze volumetric changes over 12 months after tooth extraction with socket augmentation using bovine derived xenograft. Eleven patients with one hopeless tooth (maxilla) each for extraction due to severe periodontitis were included. They found bone volumetric reduction ranging from 206.92 mm3 to 191.14 mm3 from baseline to 12 months of socket augmentation. The mean difference was 15.78 mm3. Our data demonstrated significantly greater volumetric changes for the PRF-CS group. This maybe due to methodologic variances in determining volumetric changes. By utilizing CBCT scans and MIMICS software, they analyzed the extraction socket of the region of interest instead of the whole bone volume of the augmented area and the adjacent teeth area.

In another recent human study of socket augmentation, CBCT was utilized followed by using MIMICS software to compare ridge volumes after placement of a collagenated bovine derived bone graft and naturally healing extraction sockets (Aimetti et al., 2018). After 12 months, authors found the mean decrease in volume of 18.61 mm3 and 62.09 mm3 for the grafted versus non-grafted groups respectively. In our study, the PRF-CS group managed to have bone volume fill. This showed that socket augmentation can help in improving the bone fill in the extraction socket. Keeping in mind that these data (Aimetti et al., 2018; Manavella et al., 2018; Pang et al., 2014), are not directly comparable to the current study, it is obvious they are not in conflict.

In this present study, the test (PRF-CS) material did not show similar effects as the control (PRF-X) but the difference were not significant. Nevertheless, when compared to non-grafted sites, the amount of resorption was less.

5.9 Clinical significance

Adequate ridge bone and volume are an essential criterion for effectively functioning and aesthetically satisfying dental implant supported restorations. Dental implants have

developed an incredible long-standing treatment alternative to replace lost teeth with the survival rates of 93% to 95% (Hjalmarsson et al., 2016; Moraschini & Barboza, 2016). A lack of the buccal bone after tooth extraction may be cumbersome to place dental implants, by not permitting appropriate three-dimensional position of the implant, which may adversely affect the aesthetics of the ultimate restoration. Socket augmentation is needed to overcome these consequences following tooth extraction. The combination of PRF-CS in the current study has been shown to be as effective as PRF-X graft material to preserve the ridge dimensions and volume. PRF is an autogenous graft material, can enhance healing and CS is also readily available with osteoconductive properties. On the contrary, xenografts which are obtained from other species or allografts which are obtained from the dead cadavers, appear to be expensive and can limit the patients' affordability. Patients from certain ethnic groups do not prefer to use the allografts and xenografts. For instance, Fernandez et al. (2015) reported a survey study on usage of bone grafts in dentistry and patients' preferences. They found highest refusal rates for the allografts and xenografts among the patients. Furthermore, patients mostly preferred autologous and alloplastic bone grafts. Therefore, PRF-CS can be an alternative option to believers of certain religion, if they require grafting for the benefit of their dental health.

Other dental studies on socket augmentation have only focused on horizontal and vertical dimensions of the alveolar ridge. However, information on bone volume changes of the healing socket is still rarely obtainable in the literature (Das et al., 2016; Hauser. et al., 2013; Ten Heggeler et al., 2011). To the best of our knowledge, the current study is the first randomized clinical trial study to address the efficacy of PRF-CS in preserving alveolar ridge after socket augmentation.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

6.1 Introduction

The purpose of this randomized clinical study was to evaluate and compare the dimensional (vertical and horizontal) and volumetric changes of alveolar ridge when using combination of PRF and CS (PRF-CS) as compared to the combination of PRF and xenograft (PRF-X) in socket augmentation procedure.

6.2 Research outcomes

Within the limitations of this study the following can be concluded:

- 1. There was no significant difference in vertical alveolar bone resorption of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- 2. There was no significant difference in horizontal alveolar bone resorption of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- There was no significant difference in soft tissue level of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.
- 4. There was no significant difference in volumetric changes of sockets that have been augmented with PRF-CS and PRF-X.

6.3 Limitations and future work

The study has a few limitations, such as only premolar teeth were involved in the study and the small number of patients. Although the sample size was small, the study findings are clinically relevant. The protocol for PRF preparation in the current study utilized 1300 rpm for 8 minutes. As reported in a study by Dohan Ehrenfest et al. (2017), low centrifugation speed with time less than 12 minutes creates more vibration and kept the resonance threshold > 1 which become cumbersome to separate blood from fibrin clot. Additionally, it causes small clots and membranes formation and the membrane was dissolved within 3 days *in vitro*. Future studies into this PRF-CS grafting material studies should include large number of patients with controlled groups to further assess the effectiveness of PRF-CS for socket augmentation procedure. Ideally, a split mouth design concept, with similar extraction sites should be applied in a clinical trial. However, it is closely impossible to obtain patients with the requirement of similar teeth to be extracted with healthy or restored neighbours. Moreover, future studies should also focus on implant survival rates and achievements in these grafted sites. In addition, trephined bone from these grafted sites should be collected just before implant placement for histomorphometric assessment to determine the bone composition and the fate of the graft particles after healing.
REFERENCES

- Abraham, S, Deepak, K, Ambili, R, Preeja, C, & Archana, V. (2014). Gingival biotype and its clinical significance–A review. *The Saudi Journal for Dental Research*, *5*(1), 3-7.
- Aimetti, M, Manavella, V, Corano, L, Ercoli, E, Bignardi, C, & Romano, F. (2018). Three-dimensional analysis of bone remodeling following ridge augmentation of compromised extraction sockets in periodontitis patients: A randomized controlled study. *Clinical oral implants research*, 29(2), 202-214. doi:10.1111/clr.13099
- Aimetti, M, Romano, F, Griga, FB, & Godio, L. (2009). Clinical and Histologic Healing of Human Extraction Sockets Filled with Calcium Sulfate. *International Journal* of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants, 24(5), 901-909.
- Ainamo, J, Sarkki, L, Kuhalampi, M, Palolampi, L, & Piirto, O. (1984). The frequency of periodontal extractions in Finland. *Community dental health*, *1*(3), 165.
- Al-Belasy, FA. (2004). The relationship of "shisha"(water pipe) smoking to postextraction dry socket. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 62(1), 10-14.
- Al-Hamoudi, N, Bissada, NF, Al-Askar, MH, & Al-Hezaimi, KA. (2015). Ridge preservation surgery after single and multiple adjacent tooth extractions: a microcomputed tomography study in dogs. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants, 30*(2).
- Al-Maqtari, AA, Razak, AAA, & Hamdi, M. (2014). 3D Finite element analysis of functionally graded multilayered dental ceramic cores. *Dental materials journal*, 33(4), 458-465.
- Allen, MR. (2011). The effects of bisphosphonates on jaw bone remodeling, tissue properties, and extraction healing. *Odontology*, *99*(1), 8-17.

93

- Amarnath, G, Kumar, U, Hilal, M, Muddugangadhar, B, Anshuraj, K, & Shruthi, C. (2015). Comparison of Cone Beam Computed Tomography, Orthopantomography with Direct Ridge Mapping for Pre-Surgical Planning to Place Implants in Cadaveric Mandibles: An Ex-Vivo Study. *Journal of international oral health: JIOH, 7*(Suppl 1), 38.
- Amler, MH. (1969). The time sequence of tissue regeneration in human extraction wounds. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, 27(3), 309-318.
- Amler, MH, Johnson, PL, & Salman, I. (1960). Histological and histochemical investigation of human alveolar socket healing in undisturbed extraction wounds. *The Journal of the American Dental Association*, 61(1), 32-44.
- Anitua, E. (1999). Plasma rich in growth factors: Preliminary results of use in the preparation of future sites for implants. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants*, 14(4), 529-535.
- Anitua, E. (2001). The use of plasma-rich growth factors (PRGF) in oral surgery. *Pract Proced Aesthet Dent, 13*(6), 487-493; quiz 487-493.
- Anwandter, A, Bohmann, S, Nally, M, Castro, AB, Quirynen, M, & Pinto, N. (2016).
 Dimensional changes of the post extraction alveolar ridge, preserved with Leukocyte-and Platelet Rich Fibrin: A clinical pilot study. *Journal of Dentistry*, 52, 23-29.
- Araujo, & Lindhe. (2009). Ridge alterations following tooth extraction with and without flap elevation: an experimental study in the dog. *Clinical oral implants research*, 20(6), 545-549. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2008.01703.x
- Araujo, MG, da Silva, JC, de Mendonca, AF, & Lindhe, J. (2015). Ridge alterations following grafting of fresh extraction sockets in man. A randomized clinical trial. *Clin Oral Implants Res*, 26(4), 407-412. doi:10.1111/clr.12366

- Araujo, MG, & Lindhe, J. (2009). Ridge preservation with the use of Bio-Oss (R) collagen: A 6-month study in the dog. *Clinical oral implants research*, 20(5), 433-440. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01705.x
- Araújo, MG, & Lindhe, J. (2005). Dimensional ridge alterations following tooth extraction. An experimental study in the dog. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 32(2), 212-218.
- Arnold, M, & Barbul, A. (2006). Nutrition and wound healing. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, *117*(7 Suppl), 42S-58S. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000225432.17501.6c
- Atwood, DA, & Coy, WA. (1971). Clinical, cephalometric, and densitometric study of reduction of residual ridges. *The Journal of prosthetic dentistry*, 26(3), 280-295.
- Avila-Ortiz, G, Elangovan, S, Kramer, KWO, Blanchette, D, & Dawson, DV. (2014).
 Effect of Alveolar Ridge Preservation after Tooth Extraction: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of Dental Research*, 93(10), 950-958. doi:10.1177/0022034514541127
- Bagoff, R, Mamidwar, S, Chesnoiu-Matei, I, Ricci, JL, Alexander, H, & Tovar, NM. (2013). Socket Preservation and Sinus Augmentation Using a Medical Grade Calcium Sulfate Hemihydrate and Mineralized Irradiated Cancellous Bone Allograft Composite. *Journal of Oral Implantology*, 39(3), 363-371.
- Bansal, C, & Bharti, V. (2013). Evaluation of efficacy of autologous platelet-rich fibrin with demineralized-freeze dried bone allograft in the treatment of periodontal intrabony defects. *Journal of Indian society of periodontology*, *17*(3), 361.
- Barone, A, Aldini, NN, Fini, M, Giardino, R, Guirado, JLC, & Covani, U. (2008). Xenograft versus extraction alone for ridge preservation after tooth removal: A clinical and histomorphometric study. *Journal of periodontology*, 79(8), 1370-1377. doi:10.1902/jop.2008.070628

- Barone, A, Orlando, B, Cingano, L, Marconcini, S, Derchi, G, & Covani, U. (2012). A Randomized Clinical Trial to Evaluate and Compare Implants Placed in Augmented Versus Non-Augmented Extraction Sockets: 3-Year Results. *Journal* of periodontology, 83(7), 836-846. doi:10.1902/jop.2011.110205
- Barone, A, Ricci, M, Romanos, GE, Tonelli, P, Alfonsi, F, & Covani, U. (2015). Buccal bone deficiency in fresh extraction sockets: a prospective single cohort study. *Clinical oral implants research*, 26(7), 823-830.
- Barone, A, Todisco, M, Ludovichetti, M, Gualini, F, Aggstaller, H, Torrés-Lagares, D, et al. (2013). A prospective, randomized, controlled, multicenter evaluation of extraction socket preservation comparing two bovine xenografts: clinical and histologic outcomes. *International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry*, 33(6).
- Beck, TM, & Mealey, BL. (2010). Histologic analysis of healing after tooth extraction with ridge preservation using mineralized human bone allograft. *Journal of periodontology*, 81(12), 1765-1772.

Bishop, A. (2008). Role of oxygen in wound healing. Journal of wound care, 17(9).

- Bombonato-Prado, KF, Brentegani, LG, nio Thomazini, JA, & Carvalho, TLL. (2004). Alcohol intake and osseointegration around implants: a histometric and scanning electron microscopy study. *Implant dentistry*, *13*(3), 238-244.
- Bowler, D, & Dym, H. (2015). Bone morphogenic protein: application in implant dentistry. *Dent Clin North Am*, 59(2), 493-503. doi:10.1016/j.cden.2014.10.006
- Buyukkurt, M, Tozoglu, S, Yavuz, M, & Aras, M. (2010). Simulation of sinus floor augmentation with symphysis bone graft using three-dimensional computerized tomography. *International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery*, 39(8), 788-792.

- Calasans-Maia, M, Resende, R, Fernandes, G, Calasans-Maia, J, Alves, AT, & Granjeiro, JM. (2014). A randomized controlled clinical trial to evaluate a new xenograft for alveolar socket preservation. *Clinical oral implants research*, 25(10), 1125-1130. doi:10.1111/clr.12237
- Capuzzi, P, Montebugnoli, L, & Vaccaro, MA. (1994). Extraction of impacted third molars: a longitudinal prospective study on factors that affect postoperative recovery. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology*, 77(4), 341-343.
- Cardaropoli, D, & Cardaropoli, G. (2008). Preservation of the postextraction alveolar ridge: a clinical and histologic study. *Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent*, 28(5), 469-477.
- Cardaropoli, D, Tamagnone, L, Roffredo, A, Gaveglio, L, & Cardaropoli, G. (2012).
 Socket Preservation Using Bovine Bone Mineral and Collagen Membrane: A
 Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial with Histologic Analysis. *International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry*, 32(4), 421-430.
- Cardaropoli, G, Araujo, M, & Lindhe, J. (2003). Dynamics of bone tissue formation in tooth extraction sites. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, *30*(9), 809-818.
- Casey, DM, & Lauciello, FR. (1980). A review of the submerged-root concept. *Journal* of Prosthetic Dentistry, 43(2), 128-132.
- Castro, AB, Meschi, N, Temmerman, A, Pinto, N, Lambrechts, P, Teughels, W, et al.
 (2017a). Regenerative potential of leucocyte- and platelet-rich fibrin. Part A: intra-bony defects, furcation defects and periodontal plastic surgery. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Periodontol, 44*(1), 67-82. doi:10.1111/jcpe.12643
- Castro, AB, Meschi, N, Temmerman, A, Pinto, N, Lambrechts, P, Teughels, W, et al. (2017b). Regenerative potential of leucocyte- and platelet-rich fibrin. Part B: sinus

floor elevation, alveolar ridge preservation and implant therapy. A systematic review. *J Clin Periodontol*, 44(2), 225-234. doi:10.1111/jcpe.12658

- Catellani, JE, Harvey, S, Erickson, SH, & Cherkin, D. (1980). Effect of oral contraceptive cycle on dry socket (localized alveolar osteitis). J Am Dent Assoc, 101(5), 777-780.
- Cheah, CW, Vaithilingam, RD, Siar, CH, Swaminathan, D, & Hornbuckle, GC. (2014).
 Histologic, Histomorphometric, and Cone-Beam Computerized Tomography
 Analyses of Calcium Sulfate and Platelet-Rich Plasma in Socket Preservation: A
 Pilot Study. *Implant dentistry*, 23(5), 593-601.
 doi:10.1097/id.00000000000148
- Checchi, V, Savarino, L, Montevecchi, M, Felice, P, & Checchi, L. (2011). Clinicalradiographic and histological evaluation of two hydroxyapatites in human extraction sockets: a pilot study. *International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery*, 40(5), 526-532.
- Choukroun, J, Adda, F, Schoeffler, C, & Vervelle, A. (2001). Une opportunité en paroimplantologie: le PRF. *Implantodontie*, 42(55), e62.
- Choukroun, J, Diss, A, Simonpieri, A, Girard, M-O, Schoeffler, C, Dohan, SL, et al. (2006). Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part IV: clinical effects on tissue healing. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology, 101*(3), e56-e60.

Choukroun., Diss, A, Simonpieri, A, Girard, MO, Schoeffler, C, Dohan, SL, et al. (2006).
Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): A second-generation platelet concentrate. Part V:
Histologic evaluations of PRF effects on bone allograft maturation in sinus lift.
Oral Surgery Oral Medicine Oral Pathology Oral Radiology and Endodontics, 101(3), 299-303. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.07.012

- Clark, D, Rajendran, Y, Paydar, S, Ho, S, Cox, D, Ryder, M, et al. (2018). Advanced platelet-rich fibrin and freeze-dried bone allograft for ridge preservation: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Periodontol*, 89(4), 379-387. doi:10.1002/JPER.17-0466
- Clark, RA. (2001). Fibrin and wound healing. Ann NY Acad Sci, 936, 355-367.
- Cook, DR, Mealey, BL, Verrett, RG, Mills, MP, Noujeim, ME, Lasho, DJ, et al. (2011).
 Relationship Between Clinical Periodontal Biotype and Labial Plate Thickness:
 An In Vivo Study. *International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry*, 31(4), 345-U362.
- Crespi, R, Cappare, P, & Gherlone, E. (2009). Magnesium-Enriched Hydroxyapatite
 Compared to Calcium Sulfate in the Healing of Human Extraction Sockets:
 Radiographic and Histomorphometric Evaluation at 3 Months. *Journal of periodontology*, 80(2), 210-218. doi:10.1902/jop.2009.080400
- Damien, E, & Revell, P. (2003). Coralline hydroxyapatite bone graft substitute: A review of experimental studies and biomedical applications. *Journal of applied biomaterials & biomechanics: JABB*, 2(2), 65-73.
- Darby, I, Chen, ST, & Buser, D. (2009). Ridge preservation techniques for implant therapy. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants, 24 Suppl*, 260-271.
- Das, S, Jhingran, R, Bains, VK, Madan, R, Srivastava, R, & Rizvi, I. (2016). Socket preservation by beta-tri-calcium phosphate with collagen compared to platelet-rich fibrin: A clinico-radiographic study. *European journal of dentistry*, *10*(2), 264.
- Davis, VL, Abukabda, AB, Radio, NM, Witt-Enderby, PA, Clafshenkel, WP, Cairone, JV, et al. (2014). Platelet-rich preparations to improve healing. Part I: workable options for every size practice. J Oral Implantol, 40(4), 500-510. doi:10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-12-00104

- de Barros, RRM, Novaes, AB, de Carvalho, JP, & de Almeida, ALG. (2017). The effect of a flapless alveolar ridge preservation procedure with or without a xenograft on buccal bone crest remodeling compared by histomorphometric and microcomputed tomographic analysis. *Clinical oral implants research*, 28(8), 938-945. doi:10.1111/clr.12900
- Del Corso, M, Vervelle, A, Simonpieri, A, Jimbo, R, Inchingolo, F, Sammartino, G, et al. (2012). Current knowledge and perspectives for the use of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) in oral and maxillofacial surgery part 1: Periodontal and dentoalveolar surgery. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol, 13*(7), 1207-1230.
- Del Fabbro, M, Corbella, S, Taschieri, S, Francetti, L, & Weinstein, R. (2014). Autologous platelet concentrate for post-extraction socket healing: a systematic review. *Eur J Oral Implantol*, 7(4), 333-344.
- Dohan, Choukroun, J, Diss, A, Dohan, SL, Dohan, AJ, Mouhyi, J, et al. (2006). Plateletrich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part I: technological concepts and evolution. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology, 101*(3), e37-e44.
- Dohan, DM, Choukroun, J, Diss, A, Dohan, SL, Dohan, AJ, Mouhyi, J, et al. (2006).
 Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part III: leucocyte activation: a new feature for platelet concentrates? *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 101(3), e51-55. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.07.010
- Dohan, E, de Peppo, GM, Doglioli, P, & Sammartino, G. (2009). Slow release of growth factors and thrombospondin-1 in Choukroun's platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a gold standard to achieve for all surgical platelet concentrates technologies. *Growth Factors*, 27(1), 63-69.

- Dohan Ehrenfest, Rasmusson, L, & Albrektsson, T. (2009). Classification of platelet concentrates: from pure platelet-rich plasma (P-PRP) to leucocyte- and plateletrich fibrin (L-PRF). *Trends Biotechnol*, 27(3), 158-167. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2008.11.009
- Dohan Ehrenfest, DM, Del Corso, M, Diss, A, Mouhyi, J, & Charrier, J-B. (2010). Threedimensional architecture and cell composition of a Choukroun's platelet-rich fibrin clot and membrane. *Journal of periodontology*, *81*(4), 546-555.
- Dohan Ehrenfest, DM, Pinto, NR, Pereda, A, Jimenez, P, Corso, MD, Kang, BS, et al. (2017). The impact of the centrifuge characteristics and centrifugation protocols on the cells, growth factors, and fibrin architecture of a leukocyte- and plateletrich fibrin (L-PRF) clot and membrane. *Platelets*, 1-14. doi:10.1080/09537104.2017.1293812
- Dohan., Choukroun, J, Diss, A, Dohan, SL, Dohan, AJ, Mouhyi, J, et al. (2006a). Plateletrich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part I: technological concepts and evolution. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 101(3), e37-44. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.07.008
- Dohan., Choukroun, J, Diss, A, Dohan, SL, Dohan, AJ, Mouhyi, J, et al. (2006b). Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part II: platelet-related biologic features. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 101(3), e45-50. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.07.009
- Duggan, S. (2001). Alveolar Ridge Dimension Analysis Following Socket Preservation Using Clinical Assessment and Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT).
- Edwards, R, & Harding, KG. (2004). Bacteria and wound healing. *Current opinion in infectious diseases*, 17(2), 91-96.

- Eppley, BL, Woodell, JE, & Higgins, J. (2004). Platelet quantification and growth factor analysis from platelet-rich plasma: implications for wound healing. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 114(6), 1502-1508.
- Eshghpour, M, Dastmalchi, P, Nekooei, AH, & Nejat, A. (2014). Effect of Platelet-Rich Fibrin on Frequency of Alveolar Osteitis Following Mandibular Third Molar Surgery: A Double-Blinded Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 72(8), 1463-1467. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2014.03.029
- Faber, J, & Fonseca, LM. (2014). How sample size influences research outcomes. *Dental* press journal of orthodontics, 19(4), 27-29.
- Fernandez, RF, Bucchi, C, Navarro, P, Beltran, V, & Borie, E. (2015). Bone grafts utilized in dentistry: an analysis of patients' preferences. *BMC Med Ethics*, 16(1), 71. doi:10.1186/s12910-015-0044-6
- Ferrus, J, Cecchinato, D, Pjetursson, EB, Lang, NP, Sanz, M, & Lindhe, J. (2010). Factors influencing ridge alterations following immediate implant placement into extraction sockets. *Clinical oral implants research*, 21(1), 22-29. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01825.x
- Fickl, Zuhr, O, Wachtel, H, Stappert, CFJ, Stein, JM, & Hurzeler, MB. (2008). Dimensional changes of the alveolar ridge contour after different socket preservation techniques. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 35(10), 906-913. doi:10.1111/j.1600-051X.2008.01305.x
- Fickl., Zuhr, O, Wachtel, H, Bolz, W, & Huerzeler, MB. (2008a). Hard tissue alterations after socket preservation: an experimental study in the beagle dog. *Clinical oral implants research*, 19(11), 1111-1118. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2008.01575.x
- Fickl., Zuhr, O, Wachtel, H, Bolz, WG, & Huerzeler, M. (2008b). Tissue alterations after tooth extraction with and without surgical trauma: a volumetric study in the beagle

dog. Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 35(4), 356-363. doi:10.1111/j.1600-051X.2008.01209.x

- Fiorellini, JP, Howell, TH, Cochran, D, Malmquist, J, Lilly, LC, Spagnoli, D, et al. (2005). Randomized study evaluating recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 for extraction socket augmentation. *Journal of periodontology*, 76(4), 605-613. doi:10.1902/jop.2005.76.4.605
- Franz, MG, Steed, DL, & Robson, MC. (2007). Optimizing healing of the acute wound by minimizing complications. *Current problems in surgery*, *44*(11), 691-763.
- Frederiksen, NL. (1995). Diagnostic imaging in dental implantology. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology, 80(5), 540-554.
- Froum, S, Cho, S-C, Rosenberg, E, Rohrer, M, & Tarnow, D. (2002). Histological comparison of healing extraction sockets implanted with bioactive glass or demineralized freeze-dried bone allograft: a pilot study. *Journal of periodontology*, 73(1), 94-102.
- Fu, J-H, Bashutski, JD, Al-Hezaimi, K, & Wang, H-L. (2012). Statins, glucocorticoids, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: their influence on implant healing. *Implant dentistry*, 21(5), 362-367.
- Gajraj, NM. (2003). The Effect of Cyclooxygenase-2 Inhibitors on Bone Healing. Regional anesthesia and pain medicine, 28(5), 456-465.
- Gassling, V, Hedderich, J, Açil, Y, Purcz, N, Wiltfang, J, & Douglas, T. (2013).
 Comparison of platelet rich fibrin and collagen as osteoblast-seeded scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications. *Clinical oral implants research*, 24(3), 320-328.
- Gerritsen, AE, Allen, PF, Witter, DJ, Bronkhorst, EM, & Creugers, N. (2010). Tooth loss and oral health-related quality of life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, 8(126), 552.

- Gilliver, SC, Ashworth, JJ, & Ashcroft, GS. (2007). The hormonal regulation of cutaneous wound healing. *Clinics in dermatology*, 25(1), 56-62.
- Godbout, JP, & Glaser, R. (2006). Stress-induced immune dysregulation: implications for wound healing, infectious disease and cancer. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 1(4), 421-427.
- Greiffenstein, P, & Molina, PE. (2008). Alcohol-induced alterations on host defense after traumatic injury. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 64(1), 230-240.
- Grover, V, Kapoor, A, Malhotra, R, & Uppal, RS. (2013). Evaluation of the efficacy of a bioactive synthetic graft material in the treatment of intrabony periodontal defects. *Journal of Indian society of periodontology, 17*(1), 104.
- Guarnieri, R, Aldini, NN, Pecora, G, Fini, M, & Giardino, R. (2005). Medical-grade calcium sulfate hemihydrate (surgiplaster) in healing of a human extraction socket
 Histologic observation at 3 months: A case report. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants*, 20(4), 636-641.
- Guarnieri, R, Pecora, G, Fini, M, Aldini, NN, Giardino, R, Orsini, G, et al. (2004).
 Medical grade calcium sulfate hemihydrate in healing of human extraction sockets: Clinical and histological observations at 3 months. *Journal of periodontology*, 75(6), 902-908. doi:10.1902/jop.2004.75.6.902
- Guarnieri, R, Stefanelli, L, De Angelis, F, Mencio, F, Pompa, G, & Di Carlo, S. (2017).
 Extraction Socket Preservation Using Porcine-Derived Collagen Membrane
 Alone or Associated with Porcine-Derived Bone. Clinical Results of Randomized
 Controlled Study. *Journal of oral & maxillofacial research*, 8(3).
- Guo, S, & DiPietro, LA. (2010). Factors affecting wound healing. *Journal of Dental Research*, 89(3), 219-229.

- Gupta, V, Bains, VK, Singh, G, Mathur, A, & Bains, R. (2011). Regenerative potential of platelet rich fibrin in dentistry: literature review. *Asian Journal of Oral Health & Allied Sciences*, 1, 23-28.
- Hassan, M, Prakasam, S, Bain, C, Ghoneima, A, & Liu, SS. (2017). A Randomized Split-Mouth Clinical Trial on Effectiveness of Amnion-Chorion Membranes in Alveolar Ridge Preservation: A Clinical, Radiologic, and Morphometric Study. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants, 32*(6), 1389-1398. doi:10.11607/jomi.5875
- Hauser, F, Gaydarov, N, Badoud, I, Vazquez, L, Bernard, JP, & Ammann, P. (2013).
 Clinical and Histological Evaluation of Postextraction Platelet-rich Fibrin Socket
 Filling: A Prospective Randomized Controlled Study. *Implant dentistry*, 22(3), 295-303. doi:10.1097/ID.0b013e3182906eb3
- Hauser., Gaydarov, N, Badoud, I, Vazquez, L, Bernard, J-P, & Ammann, P. (2013). Clinical and histological evaluation of postextraction platelet-rich fibrin socket filling: a prospective randomized controlled study. *Implant dentistry*, 22(3), 295-303.
- Hjalmarsson, L, Gheisarifar, M, & Jemt, T. (2016). A systematic review of survival of single implants as presented in longitudinal studies with a follow-up of at least 10 years. *Eur J Oral Implantol, 9 Suppl 1*, S155-162.
- Iasella, JM, Greenwell, H, Miller, RL, Hill, M, Drisko, C, Bohra, AA, et al. (2003). Ridge preservation with freeze-dried bone allograft and a collagen membrane compared to extraction alone for implant site development: a clinical and histologic study in humans. *Journal of periodontology*, 74(7), 990-999.
- Intini, G, Andreana, S, Margarone, JE, 3rd, Bush, PJ, & Dziak, R. (2002). Engineering a bioactive matrix by modifications of calcium sulfate. *Tissue Eng*, 8(6), 997-1008. doi:10.1089/107632702320934092

- Iocca, O, Farcomeni, A, Pardinas Lopez, S, & Talib, HS. (2017). Alveolar ridge preservation after tooth extraction: a Bayesian Network meta-analysis of grafting materials efficacy on prevention of bone height and width reduction. J Clin Periodontol, 44(1), 104-114. doi:10.1111/jcpe.12633
- Jackson, BJ, & Morcos, I. (2007). Socket grafting: a predictable technique for site preservation. J Oral Implantol, 33(6), 353-364. doi:10.1563/1548-1336(2007)33[353:sgaptf]2.0.co;2
- Jambhekar, S, Kernen, F, & Bidra, AS. (2015). Clinical and histologic outcomes of socket grafting after flapless tooth extraction: A systematic review of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry*, *113*(5), 371-382.
- Johnson, K. (1969). A study of the dimensional changes occurring in the maxilla following tooth extraction*. *Australian Dental Journal, 14*(4), 241-244.
- Kalash, S, Aboelsaad, N, Shokry, M, & Choukroun, J. (2017). The efficiency of using advanced PRF-xenograft mixture around immediate implants in the esthetic zone: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Osseointegration*, 9(4), 317-322.
- Kasat, V, & Ladda, R. (2012). Smoking and dental implants. *J Int Soc Prev Community Dent*, 2(2), 38-41. doi:10.4103/2231-0762.109358
- Kay, E, & Blinkhorn, A. (1986). The reasons underlying the extraction of teeth in Scotland. *British dental journal*, 160(8), 287-290.
- Kesmas, S, Swasdison, S, Yodsanga, S, Sessirisombat, S, & Jansisyanont, P. (2010). Esthetic alveolar ridge preservation with calcium phosphate and collagen membrane: preliminary report. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology, 110*(5), e24-e36.
- Kobayashi, E, Fluckiger, L, Fujioka-Kobayashi, M, Sawada, K, Sculean, A, Schaller, B, et al. (2016). Comparative release of growth factors from PRP, PRF, and

advanced-PRF. *Clin Oral Investig*, 20(9), 2353-2360. doi:10.1007/s00784-016-1719-1

- Kolerman, R, Nissan, J, Rahmanov, M, Vered, H, Cohen, O, & Tal, H. (2017). Comparison between mineralized cancellous bone allograft and an alloplast material for sinus augmentation: A split mouth histomorphometric study. *Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research*, 19(5), 812-820.
- Kumar, G. (2014). Importance of sample size in clinical trials. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Physiology, 1(1), 10-12. doi:10.4103/2348-8093.129721
- Kutkut, A, Andreana, S, Kim, HI, & Monaco, E. (2012). Extraction Socket Preservation
 Graft Before Implant Placement With Calcium Sulfate Hemihydrate and PlateletRich Plasma: A Clinical and Histomorphometric Study in Humans. *Journal of periodontology*, *83*(4), 401-409. doi:10.1902/jop.2011.110237
- Lang, NP, & Lindhe, J. (2015). *Clinical periodontology and implant dentistry*, 2 Volume *Set*: John Wiley & Sons.
- Lee, SA, Kim, AC, Prusa, LA, Jr., & Kao, RT. (2013). Characterization of dental anatomy and gingival biotype in Asian populations. *J Calif Dent Assoc, 41*(1), 31-33, 36-39.
- Lekovic, V, Camargo, PM, Klokkevold, PR, Weinlaender, M, Kenney, EB, Dimitrijevic,B, et al. (1998). Preservation of alveolar bone in extraction sockets using bioabsorbable membranes. *Journal of periodontology*, 69(9), 1044-1049.
- Lekovic, V, Kenney, E, Weinlaender, M, Han, T, Klokkevold, P, Nedic, M, et al. (1997). A bone regenerative approach to alveolar ridge maintenance following tooth extraction. Report of 10 cases. *Journal of periodontology*, 68(6), 563-570.

- Leonardis, DD, & Pecora, GE. (2000). Prospective study on the augmentation of the maxillary sinus with calcium sulfate: histological results. *Journal of periodontology*, *71*(6), 940-947.
- Li, W, Chen, F, Zhang, F, Ding, W, Ye, Q, Shi, J, et al. (2013). Volumetric measurement of root resorption following molar mini-screw implant intrusion using cone beam computed tomography. *PloS one*, *8*(4), e60962.
- Manavella, V, Romano, F, Corano, L, Bignardi, C, & Aimetti, M. (2018). Three-Dimensional Volumetric Changes in Severely Resorbed Alveolar Sockets After Ridge Augmentation with Bovine-Derived Xenograft and Resorbable Barrier: A Preliminary Study on CBCT Imaging. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants, 33*(2), 373-382. doi:10.11607/jomi.5684
- Martini, AP, Barros, RM, Júnior, ACF, Rocha, EP, de Almeida, EO, Ferraz, CC, et al. (2013). Influence of platform and abutment angulation on peri-implant bone. A three-dimensional finite element stress analysis. *Journal of Oral Implantology, 39*(6), 663-669.
- Marx, RE. (2004). Platelet-rich plasma: evidence to support its use. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, 62(4), 489-496.
- Marx, RE, Carlson, ER, Eichstaedt, RM, Schimmele, SR, Strauss, JE, & Georgeff, KR.
 (1998). Platelet-rich plasma: Growth factor enhancement for bone grafts. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 85(6), 638-646.
- Mavili, ME, Canter, HI, Saglam-Aydinatay, B, Kamaci, S, & Kocadereli, I. (2007). Use of three-dimensional medical modeling methods for precise planning of orthognathic surgery. *Journal of Craniofacial Surgery*, *18*(4), 740-747.
- Mayer, Y, Zigdon-Giladi, H, & Machtei, EE. (2016). Ridge Preservation Using Composite Alloplastic Materials: A Randomized Control Clinical and

Histological Study in Humans. *Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research*, 18(6), 1163-1170. doi:10.1111/cid.12415

- McAllister, BS, & Haghighat, K. (2007). Bone augmentation techniques. *Journal of periodontology*, 78(3), 377-396.
- Mellonig, J. (1991). Freeze-dried bone allografts in periodontal reconstructive surgery. Dental Clinics of North America, 35(3), 505-520.
- Miracle, A, & Mukherji, S. (2009). Conebeam CT of the head and neck, part 2: clinical applications. *American journal of neuroradiology*, *30*(7), 1285-1292.
- Miron, RJ, Fujioka-Kobayashi, M, Bishara, M, Zhang, Y, Hernandez, M, & Choukroun,
 J. (2017). Platelet-Rich Fibrin and Soft Tissue Wound Healing: A Systematic
 Review. *Tissue Eng Part B Rev*, 23(1), 83-99. doi:10.1089/ten.TEB.2016.0233
- Misawa, M, Lindhe, J, & Araujo, MG. (2016). The alveolar process following singletooth extraction: a study of maxillary incisor and premolar sites in man. *Clin Oral Implants Res*, 27(7), 884-889. doi:10.1111/clr.12710
- Misch, CM. (1997). Comparison of intraoral donor sites for onlay grafting prior to implant placement. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants, 12(6).
- Moraschini, V, & Barboza, E. (2016). Success of dental implants in smokers and non-smokers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 45(2), 205-215. doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2015.08.996
- Moreno-Drada, JA, & García-Perdomo, HA. (2016). Effectiveness of antimicrobial prophylaxis in preventing the spread of infection as a result of oral procedures: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 74(7), 1313-1321.
- Muschler, GF, & Midura, RJ. (2002). Connective tissue progenitors: practical concepts for clinical applications. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, *395*, 66-80.

- Naik, B, Karunakar, P, Jayadev, M, & Marshal, VR. (2013). Role of Platelet rich fibrin in wound healing: A critical review. J Conserv Dent, 16(4), 284-293. doi:10.4103/0972-0707.114344
- Nevins, M, Nevins, ML, Karimbux, N, Kim, S-W, Schupbach, P, & Kim, DM. (2012).
 The combination of purified recombinant human platelet-derived growth factorBB and equine particulate bone graft for periodontal regeneration. *Journal of periodontology*, 83(5), 565-573.
- Ochsenbein, C, & Ross, S. (1969). A reevaluation of osseous surgery. Dent Clin North Am, 13(1), 87-102.
- Orsini, M, Orsini, G, Benlloch, D, Aranda, JJ, Lazaro, P, Sanz, M, et al. (2001). Comparison of calcium sulfate and autogenous bone graft to bioabsorbable membranes plus autogenous bone graft in the treatment of intrabony periodontal defects: a split-mouth study. *Journal of periodontology*, 72(3), 296-302.
- Ozdemir, B, & Okte, E. (2012). Treatment of intrabony defects with betatricalciumphosphate alone and in combination with platelet-rich plasma. *J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater, 100*(4), 976-983. doi:10.1002/jbm.b.32660
- Panda, S, Doraiswamy, J, Malaiappan, S, Varghese, SS, & Del Fabbro, M. (2016).
 Additive effect of autologous platelet concentrates in treatment of intrabony defects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Investig Clin Dent*, 7(1), 13-26. doi:10.1111/jicd.12117
- Pandit, N, Sharma, A, Jain, A, Bali, D, Malik, R, & Gugnani, S. (2015). The use of nanocrystalline and two other forms of calcium sulfate in the treatment of infrabony defects: A clinical and radiographic study. *J Indian Soc Periodontol*, 19(5), 545-553. doi:10.4103/0972-124x.156875
- Pang, C, Ding, Y, Zhou, H, Qin, R, Hou, R, Zhang, G, et al. (2014). Alveolar ridge preservation with deproteinized bovine bone graft and collagen membrane and

delayed implants. *J Craniofac Surg*, 25(5), 1698-1702. doi:10.1097/SCS.00000000000887

- Park, JY, Koo, KT, Kim, TI, Seol, YJ, Lee, YM, Ku, Y, et al. (2010). d. *J Periodontal Implant Sci*, 40(5), 227-231. doi:10.5051/jpis.2010.40.5.227
- Pauwels, R, Beinsberger, J, Collaert, B, Theodorakou, C, Rogers, J, Walker, A, et al. (2012). Effective dose range for dental cone beam computed tomography scanners. *European journal of radiology*, 81(2), 267-271.
- Pietrokovski, J, & Massler, M. (1967). Alveolar ridge resorption following tooth extraction. *The Journal of prosthetic dentistry*, 17(1), 21-27.
- Potres, Z, Deshpande, S, Klöeppel, H, Voss, K, & Klineberg, I. (2016). Assisted Wound Healing and Vertical Bone Regeneration with Simultaneous Implant Placement: A Histologic Pilot Study. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants*, 31(1).
- Radi, Z, & Khan, N. (2005). Effects of cyclooxygenase inhibition on bone, tendon, and ligament healing. *Inflammation Research*, 54(9), 358-366.
- Retzepi, M, & Donos, N. (2010). The effect of diabetes mellitus on osseous healing. *Clin Oral Implants Res*, 21(7), 673-681. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2010.01923.x
- Sanz-Sanchez, I, Ortiz-Vigon, A, Sanz-Martin, I, Figuero, E, & Sanz, M. (2015).
 Effectiveness of Lateral Bone Augmentation on the Alveolar Crest Dimension: A
 Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Dent Res, 94(9 Suppl), 128S-142S.
 doi:10.1177/0022034515594780
- Saruhan, N, & Ertas, U. (2018). Evaluating of Platelet-Rich Fibrin in the Treatment of Alveolar Cleft With Iliac Bone Graft By Means of Volumetric Analysis. J Craniofac Surg, 29(2), 322-326. doi:10.1097/SCS.000000000004125

- Schreml, S, Szeimies, RM, Prantl, L, Karrer, S, Landthaler, M, & Babilas, P. (2010). Oxygen in acute and chronic wound healing. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 163(2), 257-268. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09804.x
- Schropp, L, Wenzel, A, Kostopoulos, L, & Karring, T. (2003). Bone healing and soft tissue contour changes following single-tooth extraction: a clinical and radiographic 12-month prospective study. *International Journal of Periodontics* and Restorative Dentistry, 23(4), 313-324.
- Seibert, J, & Lindhe, J. (1989). Esthetics and periodontal therapy. *Textbook of Clinical Periodontology. 2nd ed. Copenhangen, Denmark: Munksgaard*, 477-514.
- Senn, N. (1889). On the healing of aseptic bone cavities by implantation of antiseptic decalcified bone. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences (1827-1924)*, 98(3), 219.
- Serrano Mendez, CA, Lang, NP, Caneva, M, Ramirez Lemus, G, Mora Solano, G, & Botticelli, D. (2017). Comparison of allografts and xenografts used for alveolar ridge preservation. A clinical and histomorphometric RCT in humans. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res, 19*(4), 608-615. doi:10.1111/cid.12490
- Sewerin, IP. (1990). Errors in radiographic assessment of marginal bone height around osseointegrated implants. *Scand J Dent Res*, *98*(5), 428-433.
- Shah, N, Bansal, N, & Logani, A. (2014). Recent advances in imaging technologies in dentistry. *World J Radiol*, *6*(10), 794-807. doi:10.4329/wjr.v6.i10.794
- Sharma, S, & Sharma, A. (2012). Amlodipine-induced gingival enlargement--a clinical report. *Compendium of continuing education in dentistry (Jamesburg, NJ: 1995)*, 33(5), e78-82.
- Sheikh, Z, Javaid, M, Abdallah, M, & Khurshid, Z. (2013). Bone replacement graft materials in dentistry. *Dental Biomaterials (Principle and Its Application)*.

- Sheikh, Z, Sima, C, & Glogauer, M. (2015). Bone replacement materials and techniques used for achieving vertical alveolar bone augmentation. *Materials*, 8(6), 2953-2993.
- Shepherd, AA. (2003). Nutrition for optimum wound healing. *Nursing standard*, 18(6), 55-59.
- Simon, BI, Gupta, P, & Tajbakhsh, S. (2011). Quantitative Evaluation of Extraction Socket Healing Following the Use of Autologous Platelet-Rich Fibrin Matrix in Humans. *International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry*, 31(3), 285-295.
- Simonpieri, A, Del Corso, M, Vervelle, A, Jimbo, R, Inchingolo, F, Sammartino, G, et al. (2012). Current knowledge and perspectives for the use of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) in oral and maxillofacial surgery part 2: Bone graft, implant and reconstructive surgery. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol, 13*(7), 1231-1256.
- Strocchi, R, Orsini, G, Iezzi, G, Scarano, A, Rubini, C, Pecora, G, et al. (2002). Bone regeneration with calcium sulfate: evidence for increased angiogenesis in rabbits.
 J Oral Implantol, 28(6), 273-278. doi:10.1563/1548-1336(2002)028<0273:BRWCSE>2.3.CO;2
- Sumer, M, Keles, GC, Cetinkaya, BO, Balli, U, Pamuk, F, & Uckan, S. (2013). Autogenous cortical bone and bioactive glass grafting for treatment of intraosseous periodontal defects. *Eur J Dent*, 7(1), 6-14.
- Suresh, K. (2011). An overview of randomization techniques: an unbiased assessment of outcome in clinical research. *Journal of human reproductive sciences*, 4(1), 8.
- Tan, WL, Wong, TLT, Wong, MCM, & Lang, NP. (2012). A systematic review of postextractional alveolar hard and soft tissue dimensional changes in humans. *Clinical oral implants research*, 23, 1-21. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2011.02375.x

- Tarakji, B, Saleh, LA, Umair, A, Azzeghaiby, SN, & Hanouneh, S. (2015). Systemic review of dry socket: Aetiology, treatment, and prevention. *Journal of clinical* and diagnostic research: JCDR, 9(4), ZE10.
- Temmerman, A, Vandessel, J, Castro, A, Jacobs, R, Teughels, W, Pinto, N, et al. (2016). The use of leucocyte and platelet-rich fibrin in socket management and ridge preservation: a split-mouth, randomized, controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 43(11), 990-999.
- Ten Heggeler, JM, Slot, DE, & Van der Weijden, GA. (2011). Effect of socket preservation therapies following tooth extraction in non-molar regions in humans: a systematic review. *Clin Oral Implants Res*, 22(8), 779-788. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2010.02064.x
- Thakkar, DJ, Deshpande, NC, Dave, DH, & Narayankar, SD. (2016). A comparative evaluation of extraction socket preservation with demineralized freeze-dried bone allograft alone and along with platelet-rich fibrin: A clinical and radiographic study. *Contemporary clinical dentistry*, 7(3), 371.
- Toloue, SM, Chesnoiu-Matei, I, & Blanchard, SB. (2012). A Clinical and Histomorphometric Study of Calcium Sulfate Compared With Freeze-Dried Bone Allograft for Alveolar Ridge Preservation. *Journal of periodontology*, 83(7), 847-855. doi:10.1902/jop.2011.110470
- Tomasi, C, Donati, M, Cecchinato, D, Szathvary, I, Corra, E, & Lindhe, J. (2018). Effect of socket grafting with deproteinized bone mineral: An RCT on dimensional alterations after 6 months. *Clin Oral Implants Res.* doi:10.1111/clr.13141
- Tomasi, C, Sanz, M, Cecchinato, D, Pjetursson, B, Ferrus, J, Lang, NP, et al. (2010).
 Bone dimensional variations at implants placed in fresh extraction sockets: a multilevel multivariate analysis. *Clinical oral implants research*, 21(1), 30-36. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01848.x

- Tong, DC, Al-Hassiny, HH, Ain, AB, & Broadbent, JM. (2014). Post-operative complications following dental extractions at the School of Dentistry, University of Otago. N Z Dent J, 110(2), 51-55.
- Tyndall, DA, & Brooks, SL. (2000). Selection criteria for dental implant site imaging: a position paper of the American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology*, 89(5), 630-637.
- Tyndall, DA, Price, JB, Tetradis, S, Ganz, SD, Hildebolt, C, & Scarfe, WC. (2012).
 Position statement of the American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology on selection criteria for the use of radiology in dental implantology with emphasis on cone beam computed tomography. *Oral Surgery Oral Medicine Oral Pathology Oral Radiology*, *113*(6), 817-826. doi:10.1016/j.0000.2012.03.005
- Van der Weijden, F, Dell'Acqua, F, & Slot, DE. (2009). Alveolar bone dimensional changes of post-extraction sockets in humans: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol, 36(12), 1048-1058. doi:10.1111/j.1600-051X.2009.01482.x
- Vignoletti, F, Matesanz, P, Rodrigo, D, Figuero, E, Martin, C, & Sanz, M. (2012a). Surgical protocols for ridge preservation after tooth extraction. A systematic review. *Clin Oral Implants Res, 23 Suppl 5*, 22-38. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2011.02331.x
- Vignoletti, F, Matesanz, P, Rodrigo, D, Figuero, E, Martin, C, & Sanz, M. (2012b). Surgical protocols for ridge preservation after tooth extraction. A systematic review. *Clinical oral implants research*, 23, 22-38. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2011.02331.x
- Von Wowern, N, & Winther, S. (1981). Submergence of roots for alveolar ridge preservation: A failure (4-year follow-up study). *International journal of oral surgery*, 10(4), 247-250.

- Wallace, S, & Gellin, R. (2010). Clinical evaluation of freeze-dried cancellous block allografts for ridge augmentation and implant placement in the maxilla. *Implant dentistry*, 19(4), 272-279.
- Walsh, WR, Morberg, P, Yu, Y, Yang, JL, Haggard, W, Sheath, PC, et al. (2003).
 Response of a calcium sulfate bone graft substitute in a confined cancellous defect. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*(406), 228-236. doi:10.1097/01.blo.0000030062.92399.6a
- Wang, H-L, & Tsao, Y-P. (2008). Histologic evaluation of socket augmentation with mineralized human allograft. *International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry*, 28(3).
- Weijden., Vd, Dell'Acqua, F, & Slot, DE. (2009). Alveolar bone dimensional changes of post-extraction sockets in humans: a systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 36(12), 1048-1058.
- Weiss, R, & Reddi, A. (1980). Influence of experimental diabetes and insulin on matrixinduced cartilage and bone differentiation. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 238(3), E200-E207.
- Wilderman, MN. (1963). Repair after a periosteal retention procedure. *Journal of periodontology*, *34*(6), 487-503.
- Wilk, RM. (2004). Bony reconstruction of the jaws. *Miloro M. Peterson's principles of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2nd ed. New York: BC Decker Inc*, 783-802.
- Wood, DL, Hoag, PM, Donnenfeld, OW, & Rosenfeld, LD. (1972). Alveolar crest reduction following full and partial thickness flaps. *Journal of periodontology*, 43(3), 141-144.
- Wood, RA, & Mealey, BL. (2012). Histologic Comparison of Healing After Tooth Extraction With Ridge Preservation Using Mineralized Versus Demineralized

Freeze-Dried Bone Allograft. *Journal of periodontology*, *83*(3), 329-336. doi:10.1902/jop.2011.110270

- Xuan, F, Lee, C-U, Son, J-S, Jeong, S-M, & Choi, B-H. (2014). A comparative study of the regenerative effect of sinus bone grafting with platelet-rich fibrin-mixed Bio-Oss® and commercial fibrin-mixed Bio-Oss®: An experimental study. *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, 42(4), e47-e50.
- Yajamanya, SR, Chatterjee, A, Babu, CN, & Karunanithi, D. (2016). Fibrin network pattern changes of platelet-rich fibrin in young versus old age group of individuals: A cell block cytology study. *J Indian Soc Periodontol*, 20(2), 151-156. doi:10.4103/0972-124X.176390
- Yang, J, Kang, Y, Browne, C, Jiang, T, & Yang, Y. (2015). Graded Porous β-Tricalcium Phosphate Scaffolds Enhance Bone Regeneration in Mandible Augmentation. *The Journal of craniofacial surgery*, 26(2), e148.
- Yavuz, MS, Buyukkurt, MC, Tozoglu, S, Dagsuyu, İM, & Kantarci, M. (2009). Evaluation of volumetry and density of mandibular symphysis bone grafts by three-dimensional computed tomography. *Dental Traumatology*, 25(5), 475-479.
- Yilmaz, S, Karaca, EO, Ipci, SD, Cakar, G, Kuru, BE, Kullu, S, et al. (2013).
 Radiographic and histologic evaluation of platelet-rich plasma and bovine-derived xenograft combination in bilateral sinus augmentation procedure. *Platelets*, 24(4), 308-315. doi:10.3109/09537104.2012.695033
- Younis, WH, Al-Rawi, NH, Mohamed, MA-H, & Yaseen, NY. (2013). Molecular events on tooth socket healing in diabetic rabbits. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 51(8), 932-936.
- Yun, YR, Jang, JH, Jeon, E, Kang, W, Lee, S, Won, JE, et al. (2012). Administration of growth factors for bone regeneration. *Regen Med*, 7(3), 369-385. doi:10.2217/rme.12.1

- Zhang, Y, Ruan, Z, Shen, M, Tan, L, Huang, W, Wang, L, et al. (2018). Clinical effect of platelet-rich fibrin on the preservation of the alveolar ridge following tooth extraction. *Exp Ther Med*, 15(3), 2277-2286. doi:10.3892/etm.2018.5696
- Zhao, JH, Tsai, CH, & Chang, YC. (2011). Clinical and histologic evaluations of healing in an extraction socket filled with platelet-rich fibrin. *Journal of Dental Sciences*, 6(2), 116-122. doi:10.1016/j.jds.2011.03.004

university

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PAPERS PRESENTED

- Sultan, T., Cheah, C. W., Vaithilingam, R. D. (2017). Platelet-rich fibrin-Calcium sulfate in socket preservation: A case report. Abstract presented at the 2017 International Association for Dental Research (IADR 2017). San Francisco, California, USA.
- Sultan, T., Cheah, C. W., Vaithilingam, R. D., Ibrahim, N. B. (2018). Effect of Platelet-rich fibrin with Calcium sulfate in socket augmentation. Abstract presented at the 2018 11th Postgraduate Conference, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.